

Planning a Healthy Delridge: Programs & Strategies for Active Living and Food Access

University of Washington Evans School of Public Affairs Clarissa Marks, Annie Tran and Juemin Wei

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Acknowledgements		
Executive Summary	3	
Chapter 1. Introduction	5	
Definitions	7	
Past Programs and Research	9	
How will our work build on previous research and programs?	12	
Chapter 2: Research Questions and Research Methods	13	
Research Questions	13	
Research Methods	13	
Methodology Limitations	15	
Chapter 3. Literature Review	16	
National and Local Research: How the Built Environment Impacts Health	16	
National and Local Trends: Encouraging Healthier, Active Living and Active Transportation	17	
National and Local Research: Causes of Food Inaccessibility	18	
National and Local Trends: Improving Access to Food	21	
Chapter 4: List of Program Options and Evaluation Goals	23	
Chapter 5: Active Living Case Studies and Analysis	26	
Option 1: Linear Parks	27	
Option 2: Safe Routes to School Transportation Planning	30	
Option 3. Adult Playgrounds	34	
Option 4: Bicycle Education Programs	37	
Chapter 6: Food Access Case Studies and Analysis		
Option 1: Mobile Markets	41	
Option 2: Urban Agriculture	43	
Option 3: Farmers' Market	46	
Option 4: Food Hub		
Chapter 7: Research Results	52	
Active Living Evaluation Results	52	
Food Access Evaluation Results	53	
Chapter 8: Adoption and Implementation Recommendations	55	
Recommendations for All Programs	55	
Active Living Specific Recommendations	55	
Food Access Specific Recommendations		
Chapter 9: Conclusion	57	
Appendix A: Toolkits and Resources Table	58	
Appendix B: Endnotes	60	

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

We would like to express our appreciation to David W. Goldberg from the Seattle Department of Planning and Development, who granted us the opportunity to work on this important issue. We would also like to thank Professor Joaquín Herranz, Jr. at the Evans school who provided us with exceptional guidance and feedback throughout our Degree Project seminar.

We would also like to thank our peer student groups who reviewed our report and gave us excellent suggestions. In addition, many other people have been significantly supportive in this process:

Giulia Pasciuto, Research Aide for the Office Sustainability and the Environment Marquise Bester-Robertson, White Center Community Development Association John Vander Sluis, Seattle Department of Transportation (SDOT) Jay Covington, City Administrator for the City of Renton Julie Bryan, P-Patch Garden Coordinator for Department of Neighborhoods Brian Dougherty, Safe Routes to School Coordinator SDOT

Thank you, this would not have been possible without your help.

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

Delridge, a neighborhood located in West Seattle, currently faces major barriers that limit active living and access to healthy food. The primary focus of this report is to identify programs and strategies to improve the physical and social environment to create a healthier community of residents.

As graduate students from the University of Washington Evans School, we worked with the Seattle Department of Planning and Development (DPD) to answer the following research questions:

- What strategies can the City of Seattle use to encourage active living and access to healthy food?
- How can Delridge leverage its existing community assets and opportunities to support equitable health outcomes?
- What are some successful case studies that encourage healthy communities? What successes and failures did these case studies face? What strategies can build on past and existing programs to promote healthy people and families?

The four main components of our research included a literature review, analyzing case studies, conducting interviews and creating a map of community resources. We analyzed the benefits and tradeoffs of eight project and program options exemplified in 18 case studies that could be implemented in Delridge by the community or the City of Seattle to improve opportunities for active living and access to healthy food. The options were evaluated under the goals in the following table:

Active Living Food Access The option will improve connectivity through the The option will create a gathering place for the community that will neighborhood. build social cohesion and civic engagement. The option will facilitate entrepreneurship and economic opportunities. Goals The option has adequate data supporting success in other neighborhoods or cities This option will build on existing assets in Delridge. This option will generate positive health impacts on diverse populations in Delridge. 1. Linear Parks 1. Mobile Markets 2. Safe Routes to School Transportation 2. Urban Agricultures Options Planning 3. Farmers' Markets 3. Adult Playgrounds 4. Food hub 4. Bicycle Education Programs

Table 1: Goals and Options for Active Living and Food Access

Three of the eight active living and food access programs fulfilled all of the goals above (table 1). These options were Linear Parks, Safe Routes to School, and Farmers' Markets. While the remaining five options did not fulfill all of the goals, each option achieved at least one of the goals that could lead to positive outcomes in Delridge. Some programs may yield greater benefits if implemented together. For example, Safe Routes to School could be implemented with the Commuter Education program to ensure greater safety of children and bicyclists.

We recommend the City of Seattle and community organizations explore a combination of one or more of the options. In addition, any option implemented should include outreach, education and marketing components in the program to encourage use of the program. Education and outreach can help provide residents with information to make use of the program's benefits. More importantly, any option implemented should be thoroughly examined and include culturally appropriate considerations to ensure suitability for the community and residents.

The recommendations section also include a host of resources and toolkits for addressing safety and planning for specific populations in Delridge. The recommendations and resources are designed to guide agencies as they consider adopting and implementing the options we analyzed this report.

CHAPTER 1. INTRODUCTION

In 2014, the City of Seattle Department of Planning and Development commissioned students from the University of Washington to determine possible programs and strategies to improve health outcomes for current residents in the Delridge neighborhood of Seattle and build from previous research. In the past 30 years, a number of community initiated and City led efforts have attempted to improve the neighborhood's conditions for better active living opportunities and food access. However, high rates of obesity, diabetes and heart disease still persists among Delridge compared to other neighborhoods Seattle.¹ Many past reports continue to point to Delridge's problems of physical barriers to active living and access to healthy food.²³

National research has shown that the way our communities are designed and built present major health implications for our physical health.⁴ In the last few decades, the national rate of obesity and diabetes in the United States has rapidly increased to be the second leading cause of death in the U.S. after tobacco. Physical inactivity also contributes to the second, third, and fourth leading causes of death—relating to obesity, high blood pressure, and high blood glucose, respectively.⁵ To date, a number of reports have classified Delridge as a neighborhood with low walkability and limited access to healthy food. Delridge has been categorized as a "food desert", ⁶ ⁷ or a region that lacks close and affordable sources to supermarkets and large groceries.⁸

Delridge's four-mile stretch corridor poses challenges for residents to easily access healthy food. Along Delridge Way, no major grocers exist, except mini-markets and gas stations with fast food options.⁹ Delridge's geography lends easier access from its north to south end but poses challenges for transit riders, bikers and pedestrians to travel from the east to west due to its hilly terrain and infrequent bus service.¹⁰ As a result of Delridge's topography, lack of street connectivity, and limited mass transit, present challenges for residents to reach grocery stores in and outside of Delridge without a car.¹¹

In addition, studies have found that health disparities often fall disproportionately more on vulnerable populations including demographic groups who are segmented by their level of income, ethnic and racial background.¹² Delridge is currently one of the more diverse neighborhoods in Seattle, where more than 50% of the population of Delridge are people of color and 27% of residents speak a language other than English at home.¹³ Low-income districts and neighborhoods are even more at risk of facing health disparities that increase chances for obesity and chronic diseases.¹⁴ This is a concern for Delridge which has a comparatively lower per capita income of \$31,314, which is over 23% lower than the citywide average per capita income.

The Seattle Department of Planning and Development (DPD) is interested in conscious planning in underserved communities such as Delridge as a method to address the factors that affect the opportunities available for healthier people and communities. The primary focus of this report is to identify strategies to improve the social and physical determinants of health in Delridge through projects and programs that reduce barriers to food access and active living. We have identified eight active living and food access programs targeted to improve the Delridge corridor and the red area defined on the map below.



Map 1. Delridge Project Boundary Area and Community Resources

(Source: City of Seattle GIS Data, 2014)

0

Delridge is a community rich and full of valuable community assets such as Longfellow creek trails, South Seattle Community College, parks and open spaces, cultural resources and has a number of active community organizations. This report intends to build on existing resources to improve upon and create a healthier community. In the next section, we define what a healthy community looks like and how we use the terms active living and food access.

DEFINITIONS

How do we define a healthy community?

The World Health Organization defines a healthy community as "a community, or place, that is continually creating and improving the physical and social environments, and expanding community resources that enable people to mutually support each other in performing all of the functions of life and in developing their maximum potential."¹⁵ In a recent report, Policy Link identified four factors necessary for a healthy community, "economic environment, social environment, physical environment, and services."¹⁶

In this report, we define a healthy community as one that supports social and economic opportunities, by improving the physical environment and community resources.

As part of the greater goal to create a healthy community, improvements for active living and food access should be considered. In the following sections, we offer several definitions from other organizations but have crafted our own definitions we used throughout this report.

How do we define active living?

The Active Living Research Institute of University of California: San Diego defines active living as "a way of life in which people are physically active during their daily routines."¹⁷ The International City/County Management Association has a similar definition, and describes an active living community as "designed with a pedestrian focus and provides opportunities for people of all ages and abilities to engage in routine daily physical activity."¹⁸ This activity includes not only sports or trips to the gym, but incorporates physical movement integrated into different aspects of community life, such as walking or bicycling, playing in the park, taking stairs, gardening or using recreation facilities. Rather than focusing on the type of activity, the goal is for residents to find ways to be active for at least 30-45 minutes daily in

order to prevent obesity and lower the risk of coronary heart disease, hypertension, colon cancer, and diabetes.¹⁹

Many of the approaches used to encourage active living can be found in solutions for changing the physical environment and encouraging more active transportation to promote physical activity such as walking and biking. Active transportation is defined as human powered modes of transportation. The modes used most widely for active transportation are walking and bicycling, though skateboarding, canoeing, roller-skating can all be considered forms of active transportation.²⁰ Designing the streetscape to encourage active transportation can help improve factors such as safety and access to transit, further opening up more opportunities for people to make behavior changes towards healthier options on a daily basis.

In this report, we define active living as activities that can be integrated into daily community life and result in least 35-45 minutes of physical activity.

Physical activity and spaces designed for active living are important factors in creating a healthy community. As part of the greater challenge, improving food access to increase the opportunities for healthy food will be discussed in this report. In the next section, we explain how we define food access.

How do we define Food Access?

The USDA defines food access as "the ease at which households and individuals can get to stores that sell the foods they want at affordable prices." They also distinguished "food access" from a related concept, "food security" which focuses "less on physical access and more on whether a household can afford food."²¹ In a study recently commissioned by the City of Seattle, a focus group of Delridge residents created their own definition for food access. This included "balanced diet and exercise; feeling good about yourself regardless of size; colorful food; safe social and physical environment; a balance between fruits, vegetables and protein; not too much meat; whole; real; and conducive to life," and "easy to get to; available; affordable."²²

In this report, we will define food access as available fresh, healthy and culturally relevant food without barriers to safety, physical access and affordability.

These terms and definitions will be used throughout the rest of the report. The next sections cover past programs and research relating to active living and food access initiatives led by the Delridge community and the City of Seattle.

PAST PROGRAMS AND RESEARCH

Active Living Initiatives in Delridge

Active living efforts have been initiated at many levels by the city and the community over the years. The Seattle Department of Transportation (SDOT) has been responsible for street and safety improvement plans and projects completed in Delridge. One of overarching proposals SDOT's had for Delridge Way SW was to provide safer pedestrian crossings to improve walkability. In 1988, SDOT improved pedestrian crossings by reducing the number of lanes to one lane of travel for each direction, including one center turn lane along Delridge Way.²³

In 1999, the Delridge Neighborhood Plan recommended streetscape improvements to include bike lanes and on-street parking on both sides of the street, as well recommendations for more parks and open spaces.²⁴

During Delridge Days in 2007, efforts to create one contiguous open space along Delridge Way SW and 26th AVE SW and North of SW Brandon St was celebrated. The open space and park area including three interconnected parks known as the Puget Boulevard Comments Development and Cottage Grove Park Development, and Greg David Park Improvement project has active recreational elements including sports fields, playgrounds, grass court for lawn games and a renovated P-Patch.²⁵

In 2007, the Bicycle Master Plan passed by City Council identified bike lanes and pavement markings for shared bicycle lanes along the corridor to provide north-south connections through Delridge. These bike lanes provide better connectivity for non-motorized users between Westwood, Highland Park and South Delridge Triangle neighborhoods.

In 2009, the W.K. Kellogg Foundation awarded a grant to a coalition of community organizations to fund the King County Food and Fitness Initiative.²⁶ The grant led to a report from the University of Washington Urban Form Lab which benchmarked Delridge's access to food sources and physical activity facilities. The report found the southern half of Delridge was more walkable than the northern half of the neighborhood and that the built environment in Delridge is not as supportive of walking as many of the other neighborhoods in Seattle and dense areas in King County.²⁷ The report also identified a list of areas for activity including, the Delridge Community Center, sports fields, Longfellow Legacy Trail, as well as parks like the Puget Boulevard Park.²⁸

In September of 2011, the Seattle Parks and Recreation department officially opened the skate park along Delridge Way SW and received strong community support from the neighborhood. City Council approved the construction of the 13,000 square foot skate park and funded \$750,000 for the project.²⁹ The skate park is located in a complex where existing baseball, soccer, and tennis courts exist.



Map 2. Neighborhood Greenways with street improvement

(Source: Seattle Department of Transportation, 2014)

In 2014, Delridge's first neighborhood greenway officially opened along the 1.5-mile stretch of 26th Ave SW from Andover Street to SW Graham Street.³⁰ The project included elements of speed humps, wayfinding signs and a decreased speed limit of 20 MPH to encourage safety for bicyclists and pedestrians. SDOT is currently planning the second phase of additional segments to the existing Neighborhood Greenways program, sited for 21st AVE SW and 17th AVE SW.³¹ Detailed street improvements such as better connectivity to shopping nodes in White Center, additional traffic signals, and crossing improvements can be identified in the map to the left. The second phase of the Neighborhood Greenways is expected to be constructed in 2015.

As you can see, a number of past projects have been planned to improve walkability in Delridge. The next section will introduce the past food access initiatives completed in Delridge.

Past Food Access Initiatives in Delridge

Food access projects have been initiated at both the city and community level in Delridge. In 1974, the City of Seattle developed a P-Patch community garden in Delridge at 25th Ave SW and Puget Blvd SW. ³² The garden is still run managed by the City's P-Patch program, under the Seattle Department of Neighborhoods. The garden is open to Seattle residents and managed by volunteers. The garden has 30 plots for individual rental with an average wait time of one year.^{33 34}

In 2006, the Food Empowerment Education Sustainability Team (F.E.E.S.T.) began a youth community cooking and dinner program as part of the King County Food and Fitness Initiative. Since that time, the program grew to include other youth programs focused on food including a community garden and internship program.³⁵ They are now in the process of trying to expand their program to new cities.³⁶

In 2010, The Healthy Food Here pilot began as a coalition of City and county agencies through a grant from the Center for Disease Control. This pilot program worked to bring healthy food to corner stores, convenience stores and neighborhood markets by connecting them with suppliers, providing technical assistance and updating store layout. They worked with 47 stores overall and two in Delridge and nearby High Point. The stores encountered many challenges, but continue to sell fresh produce.^{37 38}

In July 2011, a store called *Stockbox* ran an eight-week trial period in Delridge. The store was housed in a small 160 square feet shipping container³⁹ in a parking lot next to an apartment complex. The trial store stocked around 300 different items and mostly dry goods.⁴⁰ They found that they needed to change their inventory several times to meet customer demand⁴¹, and that residents desired more fresh foods including dairy and meat.⁴² After the trial period, *Stockbox* decided to open their first permanent brick and mortar store at a location in the South Park neighborhood, and opened second store in First Hill in August 2012.⁴³

In March of 2014, the Seattle's Women's Commission along with the Seattle City Councilmember Mike O'Brien's office, and the Office of Sustainability and the Environment released a report on "Seattle Women and Food Access," highlighting the major contributing factors affecting food access in Delridge. The report found that women in Delridge lacked access to affordable food and food education. In addition, women in Delridge were interested in obtaining better paying jobs to increase their access to affordable food.

In August 2014, a member-owned food co-op will open in the retail space on the ground floor of the Downtown Emergency Services Center, located along Delridge Way.⁴⁴ The co-op's mission is to provide the Delridge community with access to fresh, whole, organic and local food at an affordable price.⁴⁵ They are currently seeking founding members at a price of \$100 to join.⁴⁶

Also in August of 2014, the Little Red Hen Project acquired a gardening space at the Delridge Community Center.⁴⁷ The project has worked with Delridge residents to help them grow edibles in their backyards as well as provide cooking education.⁴⁸ Starting this summer, the organization will be hosting gardening workshops at the Delridge Community Center.⁴⁹

The Delridge Community Center, run by Seattle Parks & Recreation, also holds cooking classes. They offer classes on a variety of cuisines from different ethnic backgrounds. The classes are \$25 to \$27 and accommodate up to eight students at a time.^{50 51 52}

HOW WILL OUR WORK BUILD ON PREVIOUS RESEARCH AND PROGRAMS?

While work has been done in the programs mentioned previously, ample research has been conducted in Delridge indicating that barriers continue to exist for food access and physical activity. Furthermore, previous research in Delridge has generated a multitude of recommendations that have not been thoroughly explored. In order to help the city move forward with planning efforts, we examined national and local case studies exemplifying successful programs that model development for positive health outcomes. By evaluating the potential for these options to be implemented in Delridge, we aim to help determine the next course of action as well as considerations necessary for implementation.

The next section of this report will introduce the research questions explored in this report and the four components of our research.

CHAPTER 2: RESEARCH QUESTIONS AND RESEARCH METHODS

RESEARCH QUESTIONS

This report sets out to answer the following research questions:

- What strategies can the City of Seattle use to reduce barriers to active living and access to healthy food?
- How can Delridge leverage its existing community assets and opportunities to support equitable health outcomes?
- What are some successful case studies that encourage healthy communities? What successes and failures did these case studies face? What strategies can build on past and existing programs to promote healthy people and families?

RESEARCH METHODS

We used four methods to answer our research questions. We conducted a literature review, analyzed case studies, interviewed experienced individuals working on activity and food access projects and created a map of existing community resources.

1) Literature Review

Synthesizing Past Research in Delridge

Conducting a literature review was an in integral part of understanding and evaluating how the city and community can address active living and access to food in future planning. An important element to this research was to aggregate the information on existing barriers to healthy in Delridge and then synthesize previous recommendations for action. This method enabled us to draw a relatively full picture of the previous studies and programs, identify gaps, and make recommendations that systematically build on past efforts.

Researching National Trends

In our literature review, we looked to national studies to understand the current knowledge on health implications for neighborhoods like Delridge. We researched studies pertaining to the causes of limited food access and activity options, as well as recent trends in possible solutions. Understanding the national trends helped to identify potential solutions that were the most likely to achieve greater community health in Delridge.

2) Peer Neighborhood Case Studies

Many neighborhoods across the U.S. grapple with similar issues to what Delridge is experiencing. These peers have attempted to alleviate barriers to healthy living by introducing community-based programs or city planned improvements targeted to reduce health inequities in their communities. We identified a list of national and local case studies in neighborhoods comparable to Delridge, specifically examples that were implemented in low-income and racially diverse communities. We worked with the DPD to develop a list of goals by which to evaluate the case studies programs and planning projects and determine which would be best suited for Delridge. Through the case studies, we also analyzed the barriers, risks, and implementation strategies for each option, and derived an analytical report discussing the pros and cons of each case. The purpose of this approach is to provide the city a list of the national and local programs that can potentially be implemented in locally.

3) Interviews

We interviewed the following individuals to gain insight on current community needs, past efforts and successful endeavors completed by other communities to model after. We focused our interviews on active living information since a wealth of interviews on Delridge food access were recently conducted and presented in a report by Seattle's Women's Commission.⁵³

- Marquise Bester-Robertson: White Center Community Development Association Marquise Bester-Robertson helped us gain a better understanding of community views and history regarding food access and active living components in Delridge.
- John Vander Sluis: Seattle Department of Transportation (SDOT)
 John Vander Sluis was one of the project leads for SDOT's second phase of the Neighborhood Greenways planning in Delridge.
- Jay Covington: City Administrator for the City of Renton Jay Covington helped provide history and context for one of the park case study examples.
- Julie Bryan: P-Patch Garden Coordinator for Department of Neighborhoods
 Julie Bryan helped provide general information about the existing Market Gardens and
 P-patch Garden programs under the coordination of Department of Neighborhoods.
- Brian Dougherty: Safe Routes to School Coordinator for the City of Seattle Brian Dougherty helped provide general information about current and completed Safe Routes to School projects in Delridge.

4) Map of community resources

In order to better understand Delridge's valuable assets, we created a map of the existing resources along the Delridge corridor. We used geographic information systems (GIS) and aggregated layers from the City of Seattle to include attributes of the built environment, such as existing parks and trails, as well as important institutions such as the South Seattle Community College. This map is Map 1, located in the introduction chapter.

METHODOLOGY LIMITATIONS

Much of our analysis was based on secondary research articles that were often self-published by independent organizations. Many of these studies used small sample sizes and their results may not representative of programs around the United States. Furthermore, these studies were often conducted by non-profit advocacy organizations and may have been connected to programs and biased by a desire to present results that showed success. In addition, many of the case studies we examined had no formal program evaluation to determine their success. To remedy this, we took into account the availability of reliable data when evaluating the potential for programs to work in Delridge. Finally, what works in one place may not always work in another. As a unique neighborhood, Delridge may have hidden challenges could affect the result of any program initiated from this report. However, we took care to include as much information about possible risks and strategies for implementation to ensure a program or project can be adopted successfully.

The next research component contains the literature review. The literature review includes a comprehensive understanding of the national and local research currently available in the realm of active living and food access programs and impacts.

NATIONAL AND LOCAL RESEARCH: HOW THE BUILT ENVIRONMENT IMPACTS HEALTH

Since the 1996 publication of US Surgeon General's report on physical activity and health, public health specialists and urban planners have become increasingly aware of the health benefits gained from moderate physical activity in daily activities.⁵⁴ There is a strong relationship among health, physical activity and the way cities plan and design our communities.^{55 56 57 58} Many experts agree the most practical way to increase physical fitness and health outcomes is to encourage walking and bicycling for both transportation and recreational use.⁵⁹ Thirty minutes of moderate physical activity a day, for five days a week, is enough to provide health benefits such as reductions in obesity levels, coronary heart disease, and hypertension.^{60 61}

Many communities currently lack the design and land features that enable and encourage active living, making ways to integrate activity into daily life more difficult for residents.⁶² These areas have designs that favor the automobiles over pedestrians,^{63 64} and essential services, healthy food options, workplaces and other destinations are frequently not located within easy walking or bicycling distance from where people live. In addition, low income neighborhoods often lack insufficient infrastructure to promote walking such as adequate sidewalks^{65 66 67} Delridge is one of these neighborhoods and has many areas of low walkability compared to other parts of Seattle and dense areas in King County.⁶⁸ In addition, one study a found the link between public transit use increased walking.⁶⁹ However, Delridge residents are primarily car dependent as over 62% of residents drove to work in 2010 and over 52% of households own 2 or more vehicles.⁷⁰

Perceived issues with community safety can affect decisions to use active transportation. Women tend to be more concerned with these factors and sensitive to safety risks in the environment, altering their walking behavior in response to their feelings of physical safety in their walking environment. ⁷¹ Studies have found that the negative perception of passengers about transit security influenced riders' decisions to use transit.⁷² Barriers include cleanliness and transit stops that are located in unsafe locations, such as at dangerous intersections, on highway shoulders, or on streets with narrow or no sidewalks.^{73 74}

Let's Move!

On February 9, 2010, First Lady Michelle Obama launched the Let's Move! Initiative dedicated to solving the challenge of childhood obesity. This focused on programs to encourage children to participate in activity and make better food choices through community collaboration with cities and organizations.⁷⁵ Organizations including the National League of Cities, the Robert Wood Johnson Foundation, the Blue Cross Blue Shield Association, and KaBOOM have committed new resources to help hundreds of local elected officials advance goals of Let's Move! in their communities.⁷⁶ As a result, more than 150 local elected officials have already committed to the goals of the initiative and have begun implementing healthy activity and food options in their communities.⁷⁷

Safe Routes to School

In 2005, Congress passed the Moving Ahead for Progress in the 21st Century legislation that helped establish the national Safe Routes to School Program to encourage local, regional and national efforts to increase safe walking and bicycling for school aged children.⁷⁸

The national program has proven to be successful thus far. Data from 4,700 U.S. schools from 2007-2012 show more K-8 students walking to and from school across the country. According to the data, the K-8 students who walked to school increased from 12.4 percent to 15.7 percent. K-8 students who walked home from school increased from 15.8 percent to 19.7 percent.⁷⁹ Although the program included students who attended low, median and high income schools, walking increased especially among students who attended low-income schools.⁸⁰

Active Living by Design

The Active Seattle partnership's vision is to create walkable neighborhoods for Seattle neighborhoods, where children can walk safely to school and the streets are safe for all pedestrians of all ages.⁸¹ So far, projects have been completed in five Seattle neighborhoods, including Delridge. Active Seattle conducts walking audits, identifies problem sidewalk areas that can be enhanced by SDOT, and developed a walk-to-shop initiative to allow Delridge residents to walk with shopping carts to their homes.⁸² In 2006, the partnership successfully advocated for \$875,000 in the mayor's budget for sidewalk construction and \$1.8 million for crosswalk and sidewalk improvements.⁸³ The core partnership groups include Feet First, Department of Public Health Seattle and King County and SDOT. Other key partners include Seattle Public Schools, Puget Sound Neighborhood Health Centers, Cascade Bicycle Club, the

Injury Free Coalition for Kids of Seattle, City Council, Mayor Greg Nickels, and the University of Washington.⁸⁴

Seattle Neighborhood Greenways

Seattle Neighborhood Greenway's defines a greenway as streets designed along the main arterial streets, typically with low volume cars driving through and with speeds slow enough for people to walk or ride bicycles safely and comfortably.⁸⁵ As described by the Seattle Neighborhood Greenways organization, greenways help improve the safety of streets for pedestrians, bicyclists and drivers and help improve the streetscape.⁸⁶ They provide safe connections for bicyclists and pedestrians and guide people along the route they were going by improving crossings and curb ramps to make walking easier and safer to parks, schools and business districts.⁸⁷

Bike Share Programs

Nationally, bike share programs have sprouted across the nation. Bike share programs are designed for users to grab a bike at one stop and return it wherever the next nearest station is located. The Portland-based company Alta Bike Share already operates bike share programs in Washington, D.C., Boston, and Chattanooga, Tennessee and plans to launch its program in Seattle during the summer of 2014.⁸⁸ Seattle cyclists will be able to check out bikes at 50 street-side locations in the Seattle downtown area. The bike share program is estimated to cost \$3.7 million and funds from both private and public sources will be used to launch the program.⁸⁹ The costs from bikes, bike racks, helmets and kiosks were factored into the estimated costs. Some of the existing bike share programs offer low and subsidized rates for low income bike-share users for as little as \$5.

NATIONAL AND LOCAL RESEARCH: CAUSES OF FOOD INACCESSIBILITY

A plethora of research has been conducted to determine the causes of inadequate food access in neighborhoods around the United States. This research has confirmed that a lack of access to healthy foods can contribute to an increased risk in diet-related illnesses, and that racially diverse and low-income populations are more likely to experience this challenge.^{90 91 92 93 94} However there many barriers to healthy food have been examined and there is no consensus on any one cause. One major barrier that has recently been contested is the issue of proximity to a grocery store and "food deserts." The USDA's definition of a food deserts takes into account the barriers of both proximity and affordability, by including only communities that are both low-income and that "at least 500 persons and/or at least 33% of the census tract's population live

more than one mile from a supermarket or large grocery store (10 miles, in the case of nonmetropolitan census tracts)."⁹⁵

However, local qualifications for food deserts may rely only on a measure of distance to grocery store. The definition of a food desert by Seattle King County Food Access Policy Council includes, "where residents have to travel more than 30 minutes on public transit to reach a major grocery store."⁹⁶ This is significant as the official food desert designation often determines if a community will receive resources or funding. An extensive literature review conducted by the Food Trust and Policy Link in 2013 found numerous studies that support the connection between better geographic accessibility to grocery stores and healthier food consumption or better health outcomes.⁹⁷ However, there have been a growing number of studies that do not find a strong association for that connection and question the theory of a geographical food desert.^{98 99 100 101 102}

There has also been recent research showing a larger correlation between healthy nutrition and factors other than location. A 2014 study in Seattle and Paris comparing food environment to obesity rates found a stronger relationship between socioeconomic status and obesity than obesity and distance to supermarkets.¹⁰³ Furthermore, a recent evaluation of high-profile program in Pennsylvania that worked only to reduce geographic distance by adding more stores selling fresh food found little improvement in dietary habits and healthy outcomes after implementation.^{104 105} Instead, efforts that address multiple issues including encouraging the demand for healthy food have been shown to be more effective.^{106 107}

Map 3. Seattle Food Desert



(Source: United States Department of Agriculture, 2014)

While Delridge has been labeled a food desert by the USDA (as shown in the map above),¹⁰⁸ the other factors beyond distance may be more relevant to finding a solution for Delridge. The 2009 study by the University of Washington Urban Form Lab suggested that food access in Delridge wouldn't necessarily be improved by adding a new store.¹⁰⁹ Furthermore, a consultant hired by the City to assess the possibility of attracting a new supermarket found that demographic conditions as well as nearby store competition did not support efforts to bring a new store to the neighborhood.¹¹⁰

The literature review conducted by the Food Trust and Policy Link found research indicating that the other major barriers to food access include disparities in disparities in the quality, variety, quantity, and price of healthy foods among low-income communities and communities of color. These are also often combined with a high number of inexpensive fast-food outlets that

offer less healthy alternatives.^{111 112} A 2008 outreach study by University of Washington Students found that while Delridge residents are physically not that far from grocery stores like QFC and Safeway, respondents felt the quality of produce was poor and too expensive."¹¹³ A later study found that fast food and convenience stores were closer to residents than grocery store stores or traditional restaurants.¹¹⁴

Another major barrier to food is lack of adequate transportation. While the majority of people in the United States drive to buy groceries, low-income areas often experience lower rates of automobile ownership as well as a lack of affordable mass transportation.¹¹⁵ ¹¹⁶ Factors such as distance, child-care obligations and auto-centric built environment all make grocery shopping easier for those with a car.¹¹⁷ ¹¹⁸ ¹¹⁹ Low-income residents who don't own a car will often borrow one from friends or family, share rides or take a taxi to visit a grocery store.¹²⁰ 82% of Delridge respondents said that they drove to the store in a 2008 study.¹²¹ In addition, they found that most respondents usually traveled with three to five full bags of groceries from the store, confirming that good transportation is important for residents for the physical hauling of goods from the store to their homes.¹²²

A study produced this year from the Seattle Women's Commission identified major priorities and barriers for access to healthy food in Delridge through surveys and focus groups with women and youth residents. This research found that women and youth in Delridge prioritized economic opportunities such as higher-paying jobs and more affordable food options as the primary way to increase access to healthy food. Improved transportation options and permanent healthy food retail located centrally along the Delridge corridor were also important to Delridge women and youth as these were seen as additional, but secondary barriers to income generation and affordability. Participants in the study also valued ways to build social capital and learn about growing and cooking healthy food more than the possibility of adding more stores. The report included several recommendations for solutions to address these barriers from all sides; including the implementation of a Food Hub and advocating for the restoration of Federal and State funds to supplemental food programs (SNAP/WIC), whenever possible.¹²³

NATIONAL AND LOCAL TRENDS: IMPROVING ACCESS TO FOOD

The USDA categorizes policy options to improve access to healthy food into 6 categories: "Incentive Programs To Entice New Stores or Improve Existing Stores," "Community-Level Interventions," "Transportation-Related Improvements," "SNAP Retailer Policy," "Housing and Community Development-Related Policy" and "Anti-Poverty Policy." ¹²⁴ Past initiatives in Delridge have focused on "Incentive Programs to Entice New Stores or Improve Existing Stores".¹²⁵ These address situations when the cost to develop is too expensive or credit is not available to fund the development of new stores in distressed areas. There are also programs that help existing convenience stores to start selling healthier options such as the Healthy Foods Here Pilot.¹²⁶ These programs addresses the issue that packaged, junk food and convenience items have a longer shelf life and are easier to sell for store owners. Options for policy include zoning laws, tax incentives, grants, loans or other assistance to corner store owners that help them improve their stores with tools like refrigeration or marketing for carrying fresh produce.¹²⁷

Other programs that have been tried in Delridge can be categorized as "Community-Level Interventions"¹²⁸ These options provide a way for a neighborhood to get access to food without a using a traditional grocery store. They don't always focus only on providing retail opportunities to purchase food, but find creative ways for residents to take part in food production or distribution. Past programs such as the F.E.E.S.T community kitchens and Little Red Hen garden projects fall under this category. These programs are effective in situations where traditional food retail is unaffordable for residents and incentives for new stores are not available. They also address aspects of food inaccessibility such as the need for incomegenerating opportunities and can add value to a neighborhood by providing opportunities for community building.

"Transportation-Related Improvements," "SNAP Retailer Policy," "Housing and Community Development-Related Policy," and "Anti-Poverty Policy" address additional barriers in food access such as lack of affordable transportation and cash assistance. The complexity of this issue involves address food access needs from various policy positions. In this report, we focus our analysis on four program options that are considered "Community-Level interventions." This is because this category is the most appropriate when planning for food access improvements on a neighborhood scale and the options we examine will build from previous efforts that have been implemented in Delridge.

CHAPTER 4: LIST OF PROGRAM OPTIONS AND EVALUATION GOALS

There are several programs and strategies the city or community could implement in Delridge. Understanding that the city has received numerous recommendations for solutions through studies done over the years, we narrowed the options into a shorter list that could be evaluated on their potential for success based on a set of goals. This section lists the options we chose and explains the goals those options are intended to achieve. We then evaluated the options based on how they have met these goals in case studies. The following options were chosen for evaluation as they encourage active living or food access that may lead to positive health outcomes.

Table 3: Active Living and Food Access Program Options

Active Living Program Options

- Option 1: Linear Parks
- Option 2: Safe Routes to School Transportation Planning
- **Option 3:** Adult Playgrounds
- **Option 4:** Bike Education Programs

Food Access Program Options

- Option 1: Mobile Markets
- Option 2: Urban Agriculture
- Option 3: Farmers Markets
- Option 4: Food hub

Goals for Both Active Living and Food Access Programs

The option will build on existing assets in Delridge.

Delridge has a wealth of physical and social assets in the form of parks, urban creeks, trails, gardens, active neighborhood organizations as shown in the community resources map (see Map 1). Building from existing community assets will affirm and gain from the multitude of work already started in the Delridge neighborhood.¹²⁹ Doing this can also help increase the opportunities for success by aiding the implementation process or making it easier for residents use the program. In order to meet this goal, a program or project must utilize resources from existing organizations or physical attributes located in Delridge.

The option will generate positive health impacts on diverse populations in Delridge.

In order for the program or plan to be successful, the program must have a significant possibility of leading to positive health outcomes for the Delridge community. As Delridge is an ethnically and economically diverse area with low connectivity for travel throughout the neighborhood, it is important for an option to be beneficial for various members of the community taking into account culture, income and location. Programs and projects that can generate positive health impacts for a diverse population and those who are most vulnerable are more likely to meet this goal.

Adequate data is available supporting the option's success in other neighborhoods or cities.

Programs and projects that have been recently implemented in peer neighborhoods may not have data that evaluates their level of success. Types of projects that have more data available provide stronger evidence for successful implementation and can help identify potential risks when planning and implementing the program. An option that has a more extensive body of research on its effects will be more likely to work in Delridge and better equipped to meet this goal.

Goals for Active Living Programs

The option will improve connectivity through the neighborhood.

An assessment by the DPD noted that ways to travel throughout Delridge are lacking, especially from east to west.¹³⁰ Improved connectivity can affect the degree to which transportation networks, such as streets, bike lanes and trails connect people to their destination.¹³¹ A well connected path network can make destinations easier to reach. Increasing connectivity to park, schools and other places residents frequent can also make active transportation more convenient.¹³² This goal requires that the option increase connectivity to locations in the neighborhood.

Goals for Food Access Programs

The option can facilitate entrepreneurship and economic opportunities.

Economic and entrepreneurship opportunities were listed as one of the main priorities for women and youth in Delridge in the recent report by the Seattle Women's Commission.¹³³ In order to meet this goal, an option should bring opportunities for jobs requiring a range of skill levels and other forms of income-generation, as well as affordable, high quality produce.

Economic opportunity can also include other forms of social capital such as cooking or gardening.¹³⁴

The option can create a gathering place for the community that will build social cohesion and civic engagement.

The most recent neighborhood plan for Delridge prioritized the idea of creating "nodes" or places along the Delridge corridor that concentrate community activities for a "richness and community identity."¹³⁵ This goal is related to that idea creating a place for community members to interact and work together can facilitate connections between neighbors and lead to more cultural, economic, social and ecological activities.¹³⁶ As food can also be an important way for people to share their cultural traditions and community experience, on option that creates a space centered on food can help strengthen ties between Delridge residents and contribute to this goal.

The established goals helped us evaluate the eight programs and strategies we identified for active living and food access. We analyzed each program under the stated goals to assess whether this program could be successful in Delridge.

CHAPTER 5: ACTIVE LIVING CASE STUDIES AND ANALYSIS

Through researching the national and local trends for encouraging active living included in our literature review, we identified four project options that could be implemented in Delridge. These options are Linear Parks, Safe Routes to School Transportation Planning, Adult Playgrounds, and Bicycle Education Programs. We searched for case studies that exemplified each of these options and provided information about implementation that we could learn from. These case studies are listed in Table 4. The following analysis section provides a description of each option, information about its case studies, an analysis of the option's ability to meet the goals described in the previous chapter, and a table of benefits and tradeoffs for the option.

Table 4. Case Studies for Active Living Options

	Option Name	Case Study List
Option 1	Linear Parks	 Burnett Linear Park (Renton, WA) Trail of Two Cities (Arlington and Grand Prairie, TX) Schuylkill Banks (Philadelphia, PA)
Option 2	Safe Routes to School Transportation Planning	 Michigan Department of Transportation (MDOT) Wilmington, Delaware and Delaware Department of Transportation (DelDOT)
Option 3	Adult Playgrounds	 New York City's First Adult Playground (Bronx, NY) MOMentum (Auburn/Redmond/Bitterlake neighborhood in Seattle, WA)
Option 4	Bicycle Education Programs	 Create a Commuter Program (Portland, OR) Neighborhood Bike Works (Philadelphia, PA)

In the following section, the listed case studies are analyzed for suitability and potential success in Delridge. We identified the potential benefits and tradeoffs each program may face if implemented in Delridge.

OPTION 1: LINEAR PARKS

Description: What are linear parks?

Traditional parks are designed purely for recreation,¹³⁷ linear parks can serve as a throughway and provide an interactive experience for the user. The term "linear parks" was first coined by Frederick Law Olmsted in 1925, and used to describe elongated parks that possessed landscape features to connect two or more parks.¹³⁸ Linear parks today provide urban spaces designed for visitors to enjoy



(Source: West 8, 2011)

active recreation. Characteristics of linear parks include: 139

- High density places with destinations that people can travel to on foot or bike
- Designed attractively and offer changing views
- Be wide enough to safely accommodate bikers and pedestrians
- Opportunities to purchase food and pleasant places to take occasional breaks.
- Park areas that expand at least half-mile long

Case Studies:

Burnett Linear Park (Renton, WA)

The Burnett Linear Park is a small 1.21 acre park in the South Renton neighborhood, lined with a ten-foot wide promenade sidewalk. This park was completed in 2007 and connects the south half to the north half of the park. The park features a playground, six picnic tables and a plaza showcasing the art sculptures.

The park property was originally the Great Northern Railroad Right of Way when it was acquired by the City of Renton in the 1970's. In 1978 the City developed a Parks Plan through public outreach efforts and master planning for a potential park in the corridor. During this time, the rail lines had been removed and all that existed was gravel used for parking. The City thought a new park facility would be a tremendous improvement to the quite bleak area. In 2005, the parks plan was revisited. What exists today is the re-master planned and reconstructed park.

Some of the hurdles the City of Renton had to face was acquiring the prime strip of land in the downtown core that would eventually become Burnett Park. Residents generally supported the

idea of creating a public space, which helped this project become an on-going success. The City of Renton works hard to keep the park well-maintained and safe from criminal activity. The park is well used by the neighborhoods and residents living nearby who provide more "eyes on the street" to discourage crime. On any given day, local residents can be seen walking on Burnett Park's pathways, parents playing with children at the playground, barbecuing, and just generally using the area as an extension of their front yards.¹⁴⁰

Schuylkill Banks (Philadelphia, PA)

Schuylkill Banks riverside trail is located in central Philadelphia and allows pedestrian bikers to travel from the densest, historic neighborhoods to Valley Forge, which is more than 20 miles away. The park is located in an area was once known for drug dealing and related crimes. After extending the last mile and a half of improvements on the riverside, along an active freight line, crime has decreased and the trail is now popular for fishers, runners, and bikers. The trail also leads to the Philadelphia Museum of Art, restaurants, and magnificent views of the river. The changing views and amenities appeal to trail users. Farther along the trail, the last part of the segmented trail supports local commerce on a nearby main street.¹⁴¹

In the initial stages, the Schuylkill Banks linear parks system relied on some government sponsorship, but mostly sponsors of the project came from non-profit organizations. Citizen sponsorship was also a critical component to making the project successful, even though it was a lengthy process.¹⁴²

Trail of Two Cities (Arlington and Grand Prairie, Texas)

The "Trail of Two Cities" provides Arlington and Grand Prairie access to seven miles of continuous concrete trails, connecting the Grand Prairie-Arlington city line.¹⁴³ The trail provides a 4.29 mile bike and hiking trail that winds along Fish Creek, connecting several neighborhoods together. Along the trail are intermittent rest stops, and parks including a basketball court, a ¹/₂ basketball court, four playgrounds, a pavilion, two multi-purpose fields, a practice backstop, and individual picnic tables.¹⁴⁴

Analysis – Overall evaluation:



Linear parks present the opportunity to expand on Delridge's existing park system and improve the connectivity from one park to another park for pedestrians and bicyclists, especially along Delridge Way. Similar to the Trail of Two Cities example, Delridge's existing parks system includes a skate park, football field, basketball courts, an existing trail system along Longfellow Creek, and Puget Boulevard Commons. Building on existing public park and trail assets may be possible and can help the overall connectivity between the various activities offered in Delridge. Similar to Burnett Linear Park, attracting more users to the park can help add more "eyes on the street" and in help reduce suspicious activity. Another example of reduced crime in public spaces is the Schuylkill Banks case study, where the extension of the trails along the riverside helped turn an area known for crime and drug dealing to a place that invites fishers, runners, and bikers.

Urban linear parks will require Delridge to continue developing food and other destinations along the route to increase the density in Delridge. Design elements can be supported by offering healthy food choices along the route to encourage people to choose healthy snacks for breaks along their walk or biking experience. Currently, there are few case studies examining linear parks, but the ones represented in this report seem successful enough to replicate in Delridge.

Table 5. Benefits and Tradeoffs of Linear Parks

Benefits	Tradeoffs
• Linear parks build on the existing	• Delridge may not have the population
parks system and assets such as	density compared to successful cases
Longfellow Creek in Delridge	• Land use issues with connecting
Linear parks can reduce perceived	parks may require zoning changes
crime in Delridge's existing parks and	and acquiring property
trails	• Perceived safety issues in parks can
• Linear parks encourage a number of	be an issue
physical activities such as walking,	
biking, running to and from the parks	
as well as brings people to existing	
sports courts	
• Linear parks improve the overall	
connectivity of parks system in	
Delridge for multiple uses	

OPTION 2: SAFE ROUTES TO SCHOOL TRANSPORTATION PLANNING

Description: What is Safe Routes to Schools?

Safe Routes to School (SRTS) is a local, state, and national movement to make it easier and safer for students to walk and bike to school. Encouraging walking and biking to destinations where children go to everyday can help increase their daily amount of physical activity by redefining the time spent traveling to school as a form of exercise.



Nationally, the percent of children walking and bicycling to school has decreased dramatically over the past several decades. The new norm relies on parents to drop their children off at school in cars, which reduce the amount of physical activity parents and children experience daily and contributes to more cars on the road, further discouraging active transportation.

Partnership, 2010)

(Source: Safe Routes to School National

Delridge is home to low-income families who may rely more on walking as a method to commute to school than higher income families. The Safe Routes to School National Partnership reports children from low-income families are twice as likely to walk to school compared to higher-income families.¹⁴⁵ However, low-income neighborhoods often lack sufficient and well-maintained infrastructure to promote walking such as sidewalks, thus increasing their risks of being injured as pedestrians.¹⁴⁶ ¹⁴⁷ ¹⁴⁸ Children between the ages of 5-14 are especially at risk, considering pedestrian injury is the second leading cause of unintentional injury-related deaths, and children living in poor neighborhoods are more likely to be hit by cars. ¹⁴⁹ ¹⁵⁰

Perceived fear among children and parents can present additional barriers for walking or bicycling to school. A study done in Seattle found children were five times more likely to walk or bike to school when neighborhood safety was not a primary concern for parents.¹⁵¹

The City of Seattle's SRTS program has already begun making some improvements in the Delridge neighborhood. The initial planning began in 2010 and as of March 2014, the City of Seattle's SRTS program have improved crosswalks surrounding the K-5 STEM at Boren public school.¹⁵² A study performed in Seattle from 2007 to 2013 found that walking and biking to school has increased at 26 of 28 schools.¹⁵³ The efforts to improve crosswalks were first initiated by the K-5 STEM Parents Teachers Association (PTA). The parents were very involved and wanted these improvements to help slow cars down near school zones to improve pedestrian safety.

By 2015, the City plans to improve traffic safety at Arbor Heights Elementary School by reducing speeds to 20 miles per hour and adding additional crosswalks. Both projects were

fully funded by the City of Seattle. No other major SRTS projects are currently planned by the City's SRTS program in the Delridge area.¹⁵⁴

Case Studies

Michigan Department of Transportation (MDOT)¹⁵⁵

MDOT proactively facilitated SRTS activities in the eight poorest urban communities in the state to help determine the barriers in attitudes and the physical environment critically affecting whether kids walked or biked to school. In the beginning, MDOT collaborated with schools to apply for federal SRTS funds to implement school-specific plans around schools to encourage walking and biking. MOD was aware that developing these plans would be challenging in schools, especially in schools located in low-income communities. To help build relationships, MDOT relied on existing relationships developed through the Governor Granholm's Cities of Promise Initiative. This group was an existing inter-departmental collaboration including state agencies, nonprofits, and community advocates who were already committed to focusing resources in the eight low-income communities. Under the direction of the Michigan State Housing Development Agency's Urban Revitalization Division, they elicited the help from AmeriCorps staff to coordinate with schools in each of the eight targeted communities. For schools in these eight communities, MDOT performed all of the SRTS project administration – which included hiring contractors to plan, design and construct the SRTS plans and ensure they were complying with federal and state regulations. With MDOT serving as the administrative lead for the SRTS coordination, projects were made possible even if communities lacked the staff or financial capacity to handle the improvements. This alleviated the financial and administrative burden on communities who received the award by avoiding the need for communities pursue funding based on a reimbursement basis.

Wilmington, Delaware and Delaware Department of Transportation (DelDOT) ¹⁵⁶

Wilmington, Delaware is an urban community with a population of about 70,000 people in Southbridge. The Southbridge neighborhood of Wilmington is identified as a lower income, working-class community, where 89 percent of students are eligible for free or reduced lunch.¹⁵⁷The racial demographics include 82 percent black and 12 percent Latino.¹⁵⁸ Southbridge has been identified as one of the region's targeted Environmental Justice neighborhoods. The Wilmington Area Planning Council (WILMAPCO) is a metropolitan planning organization that creates and identifies transportation priorities for the region, and aims to ensure federal funding will be spent to support minority and low-income populations.¹⁵⁹

Beginning in 2005, WILMAPCO worked with the Southbridge community to address the neighborhood's growing transportation issues around pedestrian safety in a neighborhood

where over 90 percent of Southbridge elementary school students rely on walking to school. Parents were most concerned about speeding traffic, heavy truck movement, and walkability. Next, WILMAPCO established a collaborative partnership between civic associations, the City of Wilmington, DelDOT and other health agencies to secure a \$130,000 Safe Routes to School grant to plan and construct pedestrian improvements. The established team focused on walkability improvements and safety by adding sidewalks, stripping crosswalks, adding curb ramps and improving traffic signage. ¹⁶⁰

DelDOT's role in this planning was critical. DelDOT was responsible for administering all SRTS projects and activities at the state level. To help with the planning and design process, DelDOT hired consultants to provide assistance to communities who specifically requested planning and design assistance for SRTS. Consultants worked with communities to develop plans and and documents to help facilitate the construction. As DelDOT was also responsible for ordering all materials and services needed for non-infrastructure programs, this did not present any financial burden on SRTS recipients and did not require them to handle the procurement process or face any regulatory compliance issues. Each recipient simply signed an agreement with DelDot to allow the state permission to do the work and outlines the recipient's responsibilities to use the materials and services soley for SRTS purposes, to maintain the infrastructure improvements, and to participate in statewide program evaluation. Part of the statewide program evaluation included programs such as *Steps Across Delaware*, which provided students with maps and pedometers to measure and evaluate the success of the program, by routinely evaluating the program.¹⁶¹ In addition, the state also provided statewide SRTS training opportunities, supplies, and incentive materials.

The process of the program was very successful overall and 40% of Delaware's SRTS award recipients with at least 50% low-income students were able to successfully receive SRTS projects around their schools.¹⁶²

Analysis – Overall evaluation:



SRTS is a program well-supported at the local and national level. Locally, some improvements have been made in Delridge, and one more project is on the horizon for Arbor Heights elementary school. With the help of the PTA's interest and initiative, SRTS was made possible at two of the nearby elementary schools.

Nationally, many state DOTs have partnered with agencies and cities to make improvements in lower-income urban neighborhoods. Efforts to provide better walking and biking infrastructure

for children to safely get to school have been made through pedestrian improvements such as adding sidewalks, striping sidewalks, adding flashing beacon signs, adding curb ramps and improving existing signage.

While there has already been some efforts completed in Delridge within the last year, and one project underway at Arbor Heights, there are no other additional projects planned on the horizon. The City's SRTS program can expand pedestrian improvements around schools in the Delridge neighborhood by providing better traffic calming and pedestrian infrastructure at all schools. SRTS has the potential to improve connectivity of streets around school campuses. Many of the improvements typically involve improving existing sidewalks and roads and adding flashing lights or signs to signal to drivers that they are approaching a school zone. These improvements build off existing assets in Delridge and can enhance existing roads for both drivers, pedestrians and bicyclists. Considering SRTS' wide net of support on the local, state and national level, there is ample data supporting the program's success in other neighborhoods. The Safe Routes to School National Partnership provides a planning toolkit specifically focused on implementing SRTS in low-income and diverse neighborhoods. The toolkit provides several examples covering programs like *Steps Across Delaware*, which provided students with maps and pedometers to measure and evaluate the success of the program, by routinely evaluating the program.¹⁶³ A link to this toolkit is located in <u>Appendix A, Table 16</u>.

The case studies mentioned above all included engineering of better sidewalks and crosswalks. Improvements such as the flashing beacons and improved signage helped educate and alert drivers to slow down near school zones. For the planning and implementation to be successful, parents and partners must be involved and encourage these efforts on the community level. This can be seen from the recent SRTS project in Delridge at the K-5 STEM School, where parents from the PTA encouraged and advocated for safer street improvements. The evaluation process is critical to assessing whether programs are achieving program goals. The Wilmington case study provided one method to evaluate the successes from the program by giving out pedometers to students to measure the number of steps they took as a result of better pedestrian infrastructure. In order to begin the evaluation, it is recommended that schools or program implementers measure the baseline before the improvements and measure the amount students walk before and after the improvements.

Benefits	Tradeoffs
 Improves pedestrian safety and sidewalk connectivity around Delridge schools Provides safe pedestrian and bicycle routes to and from places where children and families go every day. By walking or bicycling to school, There are several resources and successful case studies available for planning and implementing SRTS in lower income and diverse neighborhoods 	 Additional enforcement may be needed to maintain school zone laws and speed limits

Table 6. Benefits and Tradeoffs of Safe Routes to School

OPTION 3. ADULT PLAYGROUNDS

Description: What are adult playgrounds?

Adult playgrounds have spread nationally and internationally and offer free access to traditional gym equipment to the public for free.¹⁶⁴ Many people are drawn to outdoor parks because it offers another approach to outdoor physical activity. These playgrounds are useful for low-income populations who are often more at risk for health ailments and are less likely to have access to a gym.¹⁶⁵ Adult playgrounds can include traditional fitness equipment like elliptical, leg press machines, bench



(Source: Cassandra Daily, 2012)

presses, and sit-up stations. The Great Outdoor Gym Company from the UK, one of the earliest companies to specialize in providing outdoor gym equipment state that cost and accessibility are two main barriers for people wanting to exercise, and that adult playgrounds help remove these barriers and make it easier for people to participate in exercise.¹⁶⁶ Outdoor gym equipment has already been implemented in low-income neighborhoods all over the country and in major cities like New York.¹⁶⁷

Case Studies

New York City's First Adult Playground (Bronx, NY)

New York City built one of its first adult playgrounds in the Bronx, at Macombs Dam Park. The Bronx is the city's poorest district and experiences troubling health statistics, where nearly 4 in 10 adults do not exercise at least 20 minutes a day and more than 9 in 10 adults say they eat fewer than 5 servings of fruits and vegetables per day.¹⁶⁸ With such staggering statistics, the city has pursued efforts to expand the addition of adult parks throughout the city.

Beginning in 2012, New York City built its first adult playground on top of a parking lot between a track, basketball court and handball court. Within 18 months of building the first adult park, New York City decided to build 24 more adult playgrounds all across New York City.¹⁶⁹ In terms of how successful obesity public policies go in New York, adult playgrounds have proved to be more convincing to motivate behavior more effectively than other antiobesity measures such as banning soda. The cost of the adult playgrounds in New York City range from \$75,000 for the smallest version with five pieces of equipment to \$200,000 for the largest. For comparison, children's playgrounds typically run for \$500,000 to \$1 million to \$2 million. ¹⁷⁰

MOMentum (Auburn/Redmond/Bitterlake neighborhood in Seattle, WA)

Two mothers Paige Dunn and Kelly Singer, started a grassroots campaign in 2010, with the mission to help mothers exercise for 30 minutes a day. The intention behind MOMentum's plan to help build adult playgrounds in neighborhoods was specifically to help new mothers shed their baby weight and allow women to get adequate exercise while watching their children at the park. Each outdoor gym offers low-impact cardio equipment and strengthening machines that focus on arms, abs, hips and thighs. The adult parks will typically include free-standing, permanent machines that are fully powered by the user without the need for electricity. Equipment includes incline benches for sit-ups, elliptical for aerobic exercise, Captain's chair for abdomen exercises or can be used as a dip-bar to tone arms as well as pull-up bars for arms.¹⁷¹

Between 2010 and 2014, the women successfully helped raise enough money for three adult playgrounds located in Auburn, Redmond and the one in the Bitterlake neighborhood in Seattle.¹⁷² The women raised \$30,000 to open the first adult playground in Auburn. The second park was dedicated in Marymoor Park in Redmond, Washington and the most recent park opened in November 2013 in Bitterlake, Seattle. MOMentum partnered with the government departments such as Seattle Parks Foundation, the Trust for Public Land and King County Parks as well as private partners such as Luna and Gene Juarez to help leverage resources to build these parks.¹⁷³
While no formal evaluations have been found, a few websites have offered first hand experiences from using the equipment at Marymoor Park. Users have found the outdoor gym equipment as a good beginning step to get mothers active, however some of the machines were reported as offering minimal strenuous activity without the option to increase the resistance on the elliptical machines.

Analysis – Overall evaluation:



Delridge already has a number of existing parks scattered along Delridge Way. Adult playground equipment is an option that can be easily added to the existing parks and helps encourage adults to get active while watching their children at the park, as the MOMentum program was designed. In addition, adult playgrounds have been supported and implemented in some neighborhoods in America with the highest rates of obesity as a method to encourage more physical activity. The testimonials from those who use the adult playground equipment in the Bronx have been well supported by the community and low-income residents as a free outdoor gym space.¹⁷⁴ Many users see value in the adult parks and compare these spaces to having a free membership to the gym. Adult parks are perceived as free outdoor gym spaces, which can help address one of the major barriers for people to gain adequate access to spaces for physical activity and encourage physical activity for all income levels. As equipment is likely to be placed at existing parks, it will help create destinations for residents to visit, however their stationary nature does not improve connectivity throughout Delridge. So far, the data evaluating this option has found mixed results. In the Bronx, New York users reported high levels of satisfaction.¹⁷⁵ In the MOMentum case study, where the equipment was generally installed and targeted towards mothers, responses have been critical about the level of control the user has to adjust the equipment. 176

Benefits	Tradeoffs
 Provides a public space for strength-	 Equipment may require maintenance Equipment may only be used
building for all to use at no cost Allows parents to do something	depending on the weather Some testimonials indicate the
active with their families at the park In comparison, equipment is not as	equipment is not as effective or
costly as traditional children's parks	adjustable for increasing resistance

Table 7. Benefits and Tradeoffs of Adult Playground

OPTION 4: BICYCLE EDUCATION PROGRAMS

Description: What are bicycle education programs?

Bicycle education programs provide new bicyclists with the confidence and knowledge to safely use neighborhood biking infrastructure. Inexperienced cyclists may feel less inclined to use existing bike lanes if they do not know the basics to bicycle safety and the rules of the road. According to Jennifer Dill, from Portland State University, about 60% of the general U.S. population are interested in bicycling but are concerned about their safety while riding a bike.¹⁷⁷ Supporting bicycle education programs will help bicycles feel safer using bicycle infrastructure and encourage them to use active transportation more often.

Delridge currently does have some bicycle education programs in existence. Since 2013, Delridge Inspire Youth Bikes was a project formed under Sustainable West Seattle. The mission of DIY Bikes is to empower youth to do their own bike repair by providing a workspace, tools, and educational services to help youth learn how to fix their own bikes.¹⁷⁸ The program's main focus is on maintenance education. Several programs around the nation have similar focuses but incorporate elements of safety education and take the program one step further to help youth learn the value of earning and a bike.

Case Studies

Create a Commuter Program (Portland, OR)

The 'Create a Commuter' program is run by the Community Cycling Center, a non-profit in Portland Oregon that hosts a number of bicycle safety education programs and workforce development training. The program partners with a number of partner agencies involved in workforce training, immigrant and refugee community organizations and many others targeted to help the low-income population within 150% of the Federal Poverty Guidelines connect to work or workforce development through bicycling.¹⁷⁹ Programming includes basic bicycle maintenance and safety programs including: safe riding skills, helmet fitting, map reading, hand signals and maintenance training.¹⁸⁰

Since 2001, the Create a Commuter program has been fully funded through the Federal Job Access Reverse Commute fund administered by TriMet, the leading transportation agency in the Portland area. To date, the Create a Commuter program has successfully provided bicycles and bicycle education to over 2,300 adults throughout the Portland Metro area.¹⁸¹

Neighborhood Bike Works (Philadelphia, PA)

Neighborhood Bike Works (NBW) is a non-profit that provides educational, recreational, and career-building opportunities for urban youth in underserved neighborhoods in the greater Philadelphia through bicycling. The non-profit also works to promote cycling as a healthy, affordable, environment-friendly form of transportation. Since 1999, NBW has introduced biking to over 4,500 young Philadelphia residents. NBW offers free or low-cost youth programs including the Earn-a-Bike program, Group Rides, and summer camps, which reaches over 500 youth a year.¹⁸²

The Earn-a-Bike program is NBW's flagship program and focuses on educating youth about the basics of bike repair, maintenance, safe riding, health and nutrition through the course of 15 sessions. Graduates from the Earn-A-Bike program can continue working in the shop and earn work hours credits in which they can trade for more bikes, parts and accessories. These programs come at no cost to the participants between the ages of 8-17.¹⁸³ NBW partners with other neighborhood organizations to help supplement the costs for the program.

Adult programming is also offered at two of their sites West and North Philadelphia. NBW operates a retail bike shop in North Philadelphia, which helps raise funds to support on-going programs such as the Earn-A-Bike program and other trainings for young mechanics.¹⁸⁴



Analysis - Overall evaluation:

Existing national data to support the success of bicycle education program is not overwhelmingly strong and mainly come from the program implementers themselves. However, both the Create a Commuter program and Neighborhood Bike Works programs are targeted towards helping underserved, urban and diverse communities and providing them with basic bicycle skills that help make bicycling a safe alternative for transportation to work and recreation which does suggest its potential to provide health outcomes to diverse populations. While bicycle education programs do not directly help achieve the desired connectivity in Delridge as mentioned in our goals, it does help encourage the use of existing bike routes that lead to downtown, and to the Junction and Alki neighborhoods. It can also help with the adoption of future bike routes and Neighborhood Greenways in Delridge. While there are already some bike education supported groups such as Delridge Inspire Youth (DIY) Bikes, who provides a space, tools and educational services for bicyclists to learn how to fix their own bikes, the current program does not address the fact that many residents may not already have a bike. The Neighborhood Bike Works case study provides an example of a successful program designed and focused around education and earning a bike after completing the training program. While both case studies focus on teaching basic maintenance skills, the Create a Commuter program is oriented towards educating bicyclists about the rules of the road and creating confident riders to help encourage bicycle knowledge and safety. In addition, the Neighborhood Bike Works program offers bike rental. If a similar model is hosted in Delridge, then residents can rent bikes as well as participate in programs similar to the Earn-A-Bike program. This helps reduce the barriers to owning a bike and educates the youth about maintenance and bicycle safety.

Table 8. Benefits and Tradeoffs of Bicycle Education Programs

Benefits	Tradeoffs
 Focuses on educating people about general biking knowledge such as 	 Need to identify partners and resources who are interested in
safety and maintenance.Helps reduce some barriers to owning a bike for low-income residents	running a nonprofit with a similar business model to Neighborhood Bike Works

This concludes the analysis of the individual options and case studies that provide opportunities for active living. A synthesis of these findings is located in our results section in chapter 7. In our next chapter, we include an analysis of the options that address improving access to healthy food.

CHAPTER 6: FOOD ACCESS CASE STUDIES AND ANALYSIS

Through researching the national and local trends for improving access to healthy food included in our literature review, we identified four project options that could be implemented in Delridge. These options are Mobile Markets, Urban Agriculture, Farmers' Markets and Food Hubs. We searched for case studies that exemplified each of these options and that provided information about implementation that we could learn from. These case studies are listed in Table 9. The following analysis section provides a description of each option, information about its case studies, an analysis of the option's ability to meet the goals described chapter 4, and a table of benefits and tradeoffs for the option.

Table 9. Case studies of Food Access Options

	Option Name	Case List
Option 1	Mobile Markets	• People's Grocery (Oakland, CA)
		• My Street Grocery (Portland, OR)
		• Peaches & Greens (Detroit, MI)
Option 2	Urban Agriculture	• Seattle P-Patches and Market Gardens (Seattle, WA)
		City Slicker Farms, (Oakland, CA)
Option 3	Farmers' Market	• City Heights Farmers' Market (San Diego, CA)
		• East New York Farms! (ENYF!), (Brooklyn, NY)
Option 4	Food Hub	• The Stop (Toronto, Ontario)
		Detroit Eastern Market (Detroit, MI)

OPTION 1: MOBILE MARKETS

Description

In the past few years, about 40 mobile markets in the United States have been operating in communities with low food access.^{185 186 187} Mobile food delivery markets are trucks that deliver healthy food to people at scheduled locations or travel throughout neighborhood routes. Farm produce, cooked meals, and meal kits with recipes can often are often sold in these trucks. Some mobile markets have brick and mortar grocery stores, but others find that

truck service provides more flexibility and



(Source: Sustainable Ventures, 2013)

lower overhead costs compared to traditional storefronts.

Case Studies

People's Grocery (Oakland, CA)

The People's Grocery mobile market started in Oakland, California. Their mission is to provide a marketing and purchasing outlet for minimally processed, high quality nutritional food and other goods and services, as desired by members at the best possible price. ¹⁸⁸

The People's Grocery has built a comprehensive list of programs and projects such as the Growing Justice Institute, the California Hotel Garden and Greenhouse, and Wholesale Hookup, targeted at different aspects of food inaccessibility that include social justice, entrepreneurship facilitation and food education.¹⁸⁹ They also partnered with People's Community Market to assist in building a healthy, reachable, and affordable local grocery store, as well as bring jobs to the area.¹⁹⁰

My Street Grocery (Portland, OR)

My Street Grocery is a scheduled mobile grocery program in Portland, Oregon. The trucks run weekly routes to bring food from local farms to residents with barriers to healthy food access such as senior residences and low-income areas.¹⁹¹ Their mission is to offer affordable, convenient, quality foods to all, promote community health through nutrition awareness and education, and enhance economic vitality through job creation. Their truck sells in-season

produce, traditional grocery staples (milk, bread, eggs), and also offers Meal Kits with prebundled ingredients and recipes. ¹⁹² In addition, the food truck partners with the farmers and wholesalers, and directly purchases product from them. ^{193 194 195}

Peaches & Greens (Detroit, MI)

Peaches & Greens that combines a brick and mortar grocery store with mobile food truck that travels in 2 mile radius around the store.¹⁹⁶ Similar to the traditional ice cream trucks seen driving in neighborhoods, this mobile market operates on a neighborhood route until residents flag it down or temporarily locates in public places where people often gather.¹⁹⁷ During the winter months, the truck has designated stops at public health facilities, residences and senior centers. Peaches & Greens sells local farm produce, milk, eggs, cooked meals, beverages, etc. around the year with schedule listed on their website.¹⁹⁸

Analysis – Overall evaluation:



Mobile markets are growing around the US in the past few years and operate in urban and diverse neighborhoods similar to Delridge.¹⁹⁹ They operate with a relatively new business model but and only a few evaluations of their success.²⁰⁰ One of the first mobile markets, People's Grocery, moved on to develop a stationary market after receiving feedback that the mobile market was not adequate for the community.²⁰¹ ²⁰² Regardless, some reports do show evidence of mobile markets resulting in positive health outcomes for diverse communities similar to Delridge. A study conducted at the University of Wisconsin-Madison found that shoppers at four mobile markets ate significantly more fruits and vegetables than those who did not shop at the markets.²⁰³ This study also found no statistical difference between customers from the mobile markets and non-shoppers based on race, gender, and SNAP usage. This indicated there were no additional barriers affecting diverse groups.²⁰⁴

In some ways, mobile markets are better equipped than stationary markets to reach residents in various locations of Delridge because they are able to move geographically. However because the mobile markets only operate at a specific times and locations, they may not be convenient for all residents.²⁰⁵ Another tradeoff to the roaming market is that they do not provide a gathering place for communities nor any specific opportunities for social cohesion or civic engagement. Finally, mobile markets provide very limited economic opportunities. They are by nature a small operation with few job opportunities. Mobile Markets can use supplemental education programs to increase social capital and provide additional skills for residents.

Examples of this include free recipe cards from My Street Grocery and tangential gardening programs run by People's Grocery.

Table 10. Benefits and Tradeoffs of Mobile Markets

Benefits	Tradeoffs
 Evidence of positive health outcomes for diverse groups Able to serve residents at several neighborhood locations 	 Relatively new with little evidence of success Does not provide a physical space or programs for social cohesion Limited economic opportunities

OPTION 2: URBAN AGRICULTURE

Description

Market Gardens is the name of the program in Seattle, but this option is also known as "urban agriculture" elsewhere. They are different from community gardens in that they are geared toward income-earning opportunities through food production for the urban community.²⁰⁶ Gardening can take place on small areas of land in a variety of locations such as vacant lots, city parks, rooftops, median strips, front or back yards, and on land that can be owned by local governments, non-profits, a land trust, or individuals.²⁰⁷ A Market Garden is currently in use in the nearby High Point neighborhood, and a P-Patch garden (non-income generating) exists in Delridge.²⁰⁸ The report from the Seattle Women's Commission recommended the City expand the current Seattle Market Garden program run by a collaboration between the Seattle Housing Authority and City of Seattle Department of Neighborhoods to convert the existing P-Patch into a Market Garden.^{209 210} Produce from urban agriculture programs can be sold through individual farm stands, farmers markets, or through community supported agriculture (CSA) subscription programs.²¹¹

Case Studies

Seattle P-Patches and Market Gardens (Seattle, WA)

Seattle Market Gardens is collaboration between the non-profit, GROW, formally known as the P-Patch Trust, and the City of Seattle's Department of Neighborhoods' P-Patch Community Gardening program.²¹² Seattle P-Patch Market Gardens' mission is to help establish safe, healthy communities and economic opportunity through development of community supported agriculture (CSA) and Farm Stand enterprises in low-income neighborhoods.²¹³ In 1995, P-Patch began its collaborative efforts with the Seattle Housing Authority to begin the Market Gardens

program with P-Patches on Seattle Housing Authority's property. Market Gardens currently operates two gardens in the New Holly and High Point neighborhoods.²¹⁴

The program focuses on education and honoring the history and skills of immigrant and refugee communities living in affordable housing on Seattle Housing Authority's property. Market Gardens helps refugees and immigrant families, primarily from Southeast Asia and East Africa create meaningful means for income and provide education business skills for conducting business in Seattle, as well was where and how to market their produce.²¹⁵ Each garden sells produce on site at a weekly farm stand that accepts EBT as well as through a CSA in which produce harvested through the garden is sold to subscribers who pay for weekly "shares" throughout the growing season.²¹⁶ The non-profit GROW markets manages the subscriptions for the two Seattle Market Gardens and serves as the fiscal agent to provide financial support. The Department of Neighborhoods employees staff to work with residents to develop and manage the gardens.

City Slicker Farms, (Oakland, CA)

The City Slicker Farms mission is "to empower West Oakland community members to meet the immediate and basic need for healthy organic food for themselves and their families by creating high-yield urban farms and backyard gardens."²¹⁷ The Community Market Farms program repurposed vacant or underutilized land for farming and the organization now has five public Community Market Farms, a greenhouse, education programs, as well as over 180 Backyard Gardens.²¹⁸ City Slicker farms distribute all of the food produced at a farm stand. They use a sliding scale system so that low-income residents of West Oakland can pick up produce for free or at below market-rate prices, while customers with higher incomes can purchase at market price.^{219 220}

Analysis – Overall evaluation:



Urban agriculture has been recommended by experts, a limited amount of data has been developed documenting its effects.²²¹ There are some case study examples that show that several small urban agriculture programs can help reduce food insecurity,²²² and an economic model in the City of Cleveland suggested the possibility that a city could achieve self-reliance for some basic food items like eggs and fresh produce through urban agriculture.²²³ There is also evidence from the existing Seattle program that urban agriculture can produce positive health impacts for residents. In 2013, the Market Gardens programs provided 57 households with fresh produce for over 20 weeks.²²⁴ Surveys also found that the City's gardening programs covered

30-60% of participating families' produce.²²⁵ If used with a CSA delivery or pick up program as Seattle's Market Gardens do, this option may be accessible to more residents than other types of programs with limited operating hours and locations. Residents can coordinate the pick up or drop off of their share at a convenient time that fits with their individual schedules. However, if the produce is sold only at a farm stand, there may be hidden barriers for low-income EBT users. A 2009 evaluation found that the Seattle P-Patch Market Garden stands encountered several challenges in accepting EBT cards mostly due to the small size of their operation.²²⁶

In terms of economic outcomes, research suggests that urban agriculture can provide reasonable income for participants.²²⁷ ²²⁸An evaluation of the Seattle gardens showed that the average gross income per farmer was \$1,374 in 2008.²²⁹ In addition, this program provides training that builds on the agrarian heritage of many of the immigrant and refugee participants, while also teaching business skills related to marketing their produce. City Slicker Farms provides additional education services such as internships, youth programs and workshops on farming techniques that can provide opportunities for additional social capital.²³⁰

Urban agriculture also provides gathering places that can foster a sense of community. Many urban agriculture programs beautify vacant lots or underused spaces with gardens that can help create neighborhood pride. Residents with diverse backgrounds can farm together and build connections across the community. In addition, research indicates that high participation in farms and gardens can help increase voter registrations and civic responsibility in a community, while reducing rates of crime, violence, trash dumping and mental illness.²³¹ ²³² ²³³

Finally, urban agriculture can directly build on assets in Delridge. The neighborhood has one existing P-Patches currently in operation and three in nearby neighborhoods, as well a good amount of parks and green space that could be locations for more gardens. Since the City has successfully converted two P-Patches into Market Gardens, the expansion of this program to Delridge can build from the existing administration and apply the lessons learned. Additionally, the City could collaborate with the community garden being developed at the Delridge Community Center run by the Little Red Hen Project by helping them sell produce through the Market Garden system.

Table 11. Benefits and Tradeoffs of Urban Agriculture

Benefits	Tradeoffs
 Builds on existing P-Patch, parks and City programs Helps create neighbor connections through collective farming and leads to social cohesion. Local peer neighborhood evidence of income-generation and skill-building opportunities for participants. 	 Limited amount of data predicting health outcomes. Barriers exist for EBT users if produce is sold at a small farm stand.

OPTION 3: FARMERS' MARKET

Description

The USDA defines a farmers' market as "a multi-stall market at which farmer-producers sell agricultural products directly to the general public at a central or fixed location, particularly fresh fruit and vegetables (but also meat products, dairy products, and/or grains)"²³⁴ In some markets, prepared food and other goods are sold. They can range in size from small community-based markets to



(Source: Discover Sycamore, 2014)

accommodating several thousand shoppers. They are usually held once a week, and organized by a nonprofit or community-serving entity.²³⁵ In 2013, the USDA reported that there were over 8000 farmers' markets nationwide.²³⁶ This option was recommended in the Seattle Women's Commission's report as a possible fit for Delridge. The report suggested the market be placed near The Home Depot or the Boren School.²³⁷

Case Studies

City Heights Farmers' Market (San Diego, CA)

The City Heights Farmers' Market operates on Saturday mornings and has stalls with fresh organic produce and seedlings from farmers, as well as hot foods from local vendors.²³⁸ The

market also has craft sellers, community information stalls, and children's activities.²³⁹ City Heights is neighborhood in San Diego with high levels of ethnic and linguistic diversity, as well as low-income and immigrant populations.²⁴⁰ The City Heights Farmers' Market was created in 2008 by the San Diego International Rescue Committee (IRC) to address food access inequities in this community.²⁴¹ The market also partook in an innovative program to address a historically subpar CalFresh (state SNAP program) participation rate and became the first food stamp accessible farmers' market in the county as well as the only market in the county operating in a low-income neighborhood.²⁴² The program, called "Fresh Fund" works as a cash incentive designed to make the locally grown produce at the market accessible to everyone in the neighborhood. Participants receive tokens to spend at the market when they sign up for CalFresh and additional SNAP benefits when they buy healthy produce at the market.²⁴³ As of September 2009, the market's total sales amounted to \$183,000.²⁴⁴ As of July 2011, over 100 individuals had enrolled in SNAP through Fresh Fund and distributions accounted for 30% of total market sales.²⁴⁵

East New York Farms! (ENYF!), (Brooklyn, NY)

The East New York Farms Project organizes two community-run farmers' markets in the neighborhood of East New York.²⁴⁶ The neighborhood has a poverty rate of 36.2% and a sizable immigrant population.²⁴⁷ The organization was founded in 1998 by a local coalition. ²⁴⁸ Their mission is to "organize youth and adults to address food justice in our community by promoting local sustainable agriculture and community-led economic development.²⁴⁹ East New York Farms! is a project of the United Community Centers in partnership with local residents." The organization also has two urban farms and local gardeners and vendors are the primary sellers at the market in addition to three regional farms.²⁵⁰ The markets operate on Saturdays and Wednesday evenings in the summer and fall. Goods include homemade crafts and produce including Caribbean specialty crops like karela, bora and callaloo. The markets also act as a "safe public space for families" and ENYF! runs an annual youth internship and other community education programs.²⁵¹

Analysis – Overall evaluation:



Evaluations of farmers' markets have shown them to be successful in address food access concerns in other low-income neighborhoods. ²⁵² ²⁵³ ²⁵⁴ ²⁵⁵ Several studies in recent years have shown that farmers' markets have led to increase purchases and consumption of fruit and vegetables even for low income populations.²⁵⁶ ²⁵⁷ Furthermore, they have been implemented

successfully and adapted to the needs of neighborhoods with low income, racially diverse and immigrant residents as seen in both City Heights Farmers' Market and East New York Farms!.²⁵⁸ Despite a common misconception that farmer's markets are more expensive than stores, studies have shown that farmers' markets can be more affordable than traditional supermarkets.²⁵⁹ ²⁶⁰ ²⁶¹ In 2009, Project for Public Spaces & Columbia University conducted a study of eight farmers' markets in low-income neighborhoods and higher than average ethnic and minority compositions. They found that 60% of shoppers in low-income neighborhoods believed their market had better prices than the grocery store, and 17% cited price as a barrier.²⁶² Another study in North Carolina found that shopping at produce items cost 18% less on average at farmers' markets than at grocery stores.²⁶³

However, despite City Heights' success with Fresh Funds, some markets have witnessed unexplained barriers for SNAP and WIC users. Project for Public Spaces & Columbia University found that even at markets that accepted these benefits, WIC and SNAP users were not using their benefits there.²⁶⁴ They attributed this to a possible lack of information or stigma attached to using food benefits at mainly cash markets.²⁶⁵ In addition, a recent evaluation of Seattle's Fresh Bucks program, which offers double assistance for SNAP participants at farmers' markets has shown that cost is still the most significant barrier to participants at farmers' markets.²⁶⁶ Furthermore more, the Seattle Women's Commission found and that many Delridge residents were not aware of the program's existence.²⁶⁷Another barrier to diverse use comes with the limited operation of farmers' markets. Because they operate seasonally and usually once or twice a week with limited hours, some residents may not be able to visit markets while they're open.

Farmers' markets also offer the ability for residents to sell prepared food or goods from small businesses at the market. While economic estimates place the number of jobs created only between 2.4 and 5.4 per market,²⁶⁸ there are still opportunities for income generation and social capital building for residents selling goods at the market. The East New York Farmers' Market provides a space for 23 local gardeners and 11 local vendors to sell their goods.²⁶⁹ In addition, farmers' markets offer a great opportunity for socialization and community building. Residents can establish relationships with neighbors through buying and selling food from each other. By operating at a set time and location, the market becomes a regular feature of the neighborhood where residents can plan to gather for other activities. By offering an established public gathering space and time, farmers' markets are key location for community organizations and local government agencies to conduct outreach and direct service with the community. For example, the City Heights farmers' market hosted a free immunization clinic from a local medical foundation.²⁷⁰ This community gathering space also provides opportunities for local entertainers or artists to perform and adds cultural expression through events like the Lion

Dance for Chinese New Year at City Heights.²⁷¹ Finally, farmers' markets can be placed in a variety of locations from parks to parking lots. Given that Delridge has these spaces available, including the two locations recommended by the Seattle Women's Commission report, this option can build on existing assets without requiring new construction.

Table 12. Benefits and Tradeoffs of Farmers' Market

Benefits	Tradeoffs
 Provides a defined public gathering space and time for community engagement Expected increase in fruit and vegetable consumption Evidence of success in several other neighborhoods 	 Few operation hours limit accessibility to residents who are unable to attend. Barriers to SNAP and WIC users Seasonal, small operation means fewer entrepreneurial opportunities.

OPTION 4: FOOD HUB

Description

The food hub is an organization or business that manages the aggregation and distribution of locally or regionally produced fruits and vegetables. Many operations are placed close together to create opportunities for local food connections that strengthen the farm sector and community health. Food Hubs take on variety of forms and sizes to fit the needs of the community they are located in.²⁷² ²⁷³ ²⁷⁴ ²⁷⁵ Food Hubs around the US offer operations including



(Source: Gourmet Gorilla, 2014)

aggregation, distribution and storage, processing and commercial kitchens, teaching and learning spaces, community gathering spaces, direct marketing, front- line services, food retail, office space, as well as green design and quality public realm.²⁷⁶ Though they have similarities to traditional farmers' markets, Food Hubs often provide farm to business or institution distribution as well as to consumers.²⁷⁷ This option was recommended in the Seattle Women's Commission's report as a possible fit for Delridge. This report suggested that the food hub in Delridge could take a "hyper local approach" that includes the operation of several other project options such as a farmers' market and a space for neighborhood market gardens to sell their produce.²⁷⁸

Case Studies

The Stop (Toronto, Ontario)

This food hub opened in the mid-1970s originally as a food bank. It's located in in one of Toronto's lowest income neighborhoods, Davenport West. The Stop is now a food center for the community that still provides emergency food service as well as education programs and skill building related to food security. Their programs include a "drop-in" safe space, food bank, a sustainable food production and education center, urban agriculture, community advocacy, bake ovens and markets, and other community programs.^{279 280}

Detroit Eastern Market (Detroit, MI)

The Detroit Eastern market is the largest public market in the United States. It was founded in 1891, and is located on 43-acres of land and is set about one mile northeast of the downtown core. The main facility includes a six-block public market with warehouses and permanent buildings housing both wholesale and retail food sales. The market also includes restaurants, shops, and several independent food processors and distributors. Surrounding the market are privately owned offices, restaurants and shops related to the food industry. Altogether, the market and surrounding district include more than 250 independent merchants, vendors, wholesalers and retailers. \$25 million is generated annually through the market alone. The non-profit, Detroit Eastern Market Corporation (EMC) manages the market while the City owns its assets. Other initiatives by the EMC include development of a value-added processing facility, urban agriculture demonstration projects, organization of a food and agricultural business network, and helping Detroit Public Schools partner with local, healthy food outlets.²⁸¹ 282 283

Analysis – Overall evaluation:



There is limited information on the overall impact of food hubs as they are a relatively new concept.²⁸⁴ The National Food Hub Survey conducted in 2013 found that 62% of food hubs began operations only within the last five years.²⁸⁵ Furthermore, the majority of food hubs found through our research worked on a regional level, rather than on a micro level as the Seattle Women's Commission report recommended. The majority of food hubs researched also worked with a dedicated farm sector. While about half of all food hubs include increasing food access and community development as part of their operational commitment, other food hubs

tend to focus on supporting local producers rather than consumers.²⁸⁶ ²⁸⁷ ²⁸⁸ The Stop in Toronto is a unique example in that it focuses on helping an urban, low-income population at the neighborhood scale. In their 2013 annual report, The Stop reported that a majority of surveyed participants made healthy changes to their diets and experienced improved physical and mental health due to education or programs that they received through the organization.²⁸⁹ However, this could be related to their additional nutrition programing in combination with the food hub. Therefore, there is little indication that creating a food hub would directly lead to positive health outcomes for Delridge residents.

The design of a food hub and its services also determines its ability to promote social cohesion and civic engagement. Food hubs that offer retail to customers are more likely to perform community services such cooking education and donation to food banks.²⁹⁰ The Stop annual report surveys found that their 89% of their participants had made friends through these types of programs and 81% felt a sense of community in the organization.²⁹¹ In addition, a central aspect of a food hub is to provide a physical center that can create connections for the local food sector based on proximity.²⁹² Food hubs also have a strong potential for positive impacts on the local economy.^{293 294} The average food hub includes 19 paid positions on its own.²⁹⁵ The infrastructure and equipment included in food hubs can support new entrepreneurial businesses such as storage and kitchens.²⁹⁶ However, acquiring these assets can also be a barrier to the creation of a food hub. They require a large physical location as well as buildings and supplies that can be used for storage, processing and distribution.

The development of a food hub is currently planned in the South Seattle neighborhood Rainier Beach with the intention to sell to larger consumers.²⁹⁷ If a food hub is planned for the Delridge neighborhood, it would be beneficial to coordinate with the Rainier Beach food hub to share knowledge and resources rather than to compete for customers and support.

Benefits	Tradeoffs
 Strong evidence for entrepreneur opportunities Able to combine the benefits from multiple options Potential for community building 	 Very few examples where hubs have worked on a smaller, neighborhood scale Limited research on health outcomes Requires a lot of land, buildings and equipment

Table 13. Benefits and Tradeoffs of Food Hub

This concludes the analysis of the individual options to improve access to healthy food. In our next chapter we include a synthesis of the findings for all of the food access and active living options together.

CHAPTER 7: RESEARCH RESULTS

This section is intended to compare the overall differences between the programs and projects for active living and food access. We summarize the key advantages and disadvantages determined from our analysis of the case studies through a "Star Table" which presents the evaluation of each option's ability to meet the overarching goals we defined. If the option significantly meets the objective of a defined goal, it is given a star in that category.

ACTIVE LIVING EVALUATION RESULTS

	Improves Connectivity throughout Neighborhood	Data Available From Peer Communities	Builds on Existing Assets	Generates Health Outcomes for Diverse Population
Linear Parks	*	*	*	*
Safe Routes to School	*	*	*	*
Adult Playgrounds	_		*	*
Bicycle Education			*	*

Table 14. Star table of Active Living Options

According to the analysis in the previous chapters, all four of the options evaluated were likely to achieve positive health outcomes for diverse residents in Delridge and build on existing assets. Out of all of the options, Linear Parks and Safe Routes to School were likely to achieve all four goals. Linear Parks improves connectivity by creating new paths for active transportation around the neighborhood. Safe Routes to School Transportation Planning improves connectivity by improving the safety for pedestrian and bicyclists as they travel to and from school. Adult Playgrounds do not improve connectivity due to their nature as an activity destination rather than as a path for travel. Bicycle Educations Programs do not improve connectivity because they do not add to or modify existing infrastructure. Linear Parks and Safe Routes to School were also the only two options that had sufficient evidence indicating they were implemented successfully in peer neighborhoods. However, the benefits of Adult Playgrounds and Bicycle Education Programs make them worthwhile endeavors despite their risk from lack of data.

FOOD ACCESS EVALUATION RESULTS

Table 15. Star table of Food Access Options

	Provides Economic and Entrepreneurial Opportunities	Builds Social Cohesion	Data Available From Peer Communities	Builds on Existing Assets	Generates Health Outcomes for Diverse Population
Mobile Markets				_	*
Urban Agriculture	*	*	_	*	*
Farmers' Market	*	*	\star	*	\star
Food Hub	*	*			

The Farmers' Market was the only program that was able to meet all five goals. Its main strength comes from a history of many Farmers' Markets around the country operating successfully for years. These markets have been rigorously studied and shown proven health outcomes among a wide-array of diverse populations. The Farmers' Market is also strong in its ability to provide a regular space for economic opportunity through food vending and for exchange and interaction between residents for social cohesion. Urban Agriculture also meets the majority of the goals, through both its communal space for gardening and ability to sell produce. As a fairly recent concept in urban areas, it lacks sufficient data from peer neighborhoods. However, the fact that this program has been introduced in Seattle may reduce the risk of failure.

While the Food Hub's strength is in its ability to create various programs for economic vitality and social cohesion, it is too new to have acquired sufficient evidence of success or demonstrate health outcomes for diverse populations. It also requires a large investment of infrastructure which does not currently exist in Delridge. Finally, Mobile Markets come with similar concerns to the Food Hub. In addition, its roaming nature does not provide a place for social or economic engagement for community members. That being said, Mobile Markets are still effective in providing positive health outcomes, and their ability to travel throughout the neighborhood allow them to reach a more diverse group of residents.

Although some options may have met more goals, we do not rank or recommend one or two specific options above the other options. This analysis merely identifies potential risks and

uncertainties for DPD and policymakers as they consider these options suitable for different goals addressed beyond in this analysis. In the following chapter, we provide recommendations that may be helpful for implementing the programs to encourage success of the program in Delridge. These recommendations are included in the following chapter.

CHAPTER 8: ADOPTION AND IMPLEMENTATION RECOMMENDATIONS

As stated in our research results section, we are not recommending one program or project option above another as all of the options would work towards at least one of the goals for Delridge. There are several aspects related to introducing an active living or food access project that are important for all of the options we have analyzed. In addition to the recommendations below, we have also included a list of toolkits and resources in <u>Appendix A</u> related to implementation of these types of programs.

RECOMMENDATIONS FOR ALL PROGRAMS

Combination of Options: Any of the options that we evaluated could be combined or used in tandem to multiply the benefits for each. For example, the produce grown in an Urban Agriculture garden could be sold at a Farmer's Market or through a Mobile Market to provide more opportunities for sale, interaction with neighbors, and to reach a greater portion of Delridge's population. This type of combination has been tried by some of the organizations in the case study analysis.²⁹⁸ ²⁹⁹ ³⁰⁰ For active living, Bicycle Education Programs could be combined with Safe Routes to School Transportation Planning to increase user knowledge and participation.

Education, Outreach and Marketing: Several case studies experienced challenges with getting customers familiar with their new form of distribution, or simply finding out that the program existed.^{301 302 303 304} Any program efforts should make sure to include a way to encourage demand as well as provide information and skills that can help residents make use of the program's benefits. This includes education programs, as well as publicity and advertising of the program.

Cultural Considerations: Any option should make sure to accommodate the cultural diversity in Delridge and the traditions that go with it. It's important for any food access program to find ways to offer traditional foods that residents need, such as halal meat or tortillas. For active living projects, organizers and planners should be aware of cultural customs that make it difficult for women to walk alone or bike. Furthermore, cultural considerations are important when working with vulnerable community members that may perceive these programs to be for-profit businesses that may take advantage of them. It is important to communicate and build trust with residents so that they can be full participants in the project.

ACTIVE LIVING SPECIFIC RECOMMENDATIONS

Attractive Design: Creating an inviting setting for active living options including Linear Parks and Safe Routes to School is essential for encouraging resident use. Paths created in linear parks

or Safe Routes to School should be both attractive and interesting, offering changing views, as well as be wide enough to safely accommodate bikers and pedestrians. It can also be helpful to provide opportunities to purchase food and pleasant places to sit or take breaks.³⁰⁵ Adult playgrounds should also incorporate attractive and functional design to encourage user interest.

Safety Enhancements: Past reports have identified safety concerns for vulnerable populations like women, youth and the elderly. Participants in the Seattle Women's Commission Report reported that they did not use active and public transportation due to safety concerns regarding high speed traffic and perceptions of crime.³⁰⁶ Design features can include adequate lighting at night,³⁰⁷ sidewalks and curb ramps, improving crosswalks, and coordinating with neighborhood greenways to promote safe driving around the project area.³⁰⁸

FOOD ACCESS SPECIFIC RECOMMENDATIONS

Planning Tools to Encourage Development: DPD can influence greater food access by utilizing a number planning tools to encourage food innovation. A similar effort is currently underway in the Rainier Beach food innovation zone. Examples of tools include: ^{309 310}

- Local zoning ordinances establish zones where the programs are an approved land use.
- Streamlined permitting processes for organizations involved in these programs.
- Tax incentives for businesses in the food industry.
- Land banking or secure long-term use of land through local government policies, land trusts, or permanent land ownership.
- Ongoing assistance through free services such as water, waste disposal and compost, as well as tools and storage facilities.

Supplemental Nutrition Assistance Program (SNAP) and Women Infant and Children (WIC): As many of Delridge residents rely on SNAP and WIC food assistance to purchase their food, it is essential that these programs be integrated into any new food access project or program. One way to do this is by making sure Seattle's Fresh Bucks program is available for purchasing food in any project or program implemented. This program operated at 17 Seattle farmers' markets in 2013 ³¹¹ and doubled participants SNAP and WIC assistance up to \$10. Expanding Seattle's Fresh Bucks program will reduce cost barriers for participants while encouraging more residents to utilize the adopted program or project.

CHAPTER 9: CONCLUSION

We evaluated eight strategies that the City of Seattle and neighborhood organizations can use to reduce barriers to active living and access to healthy food in Delridge. We determined options for programs and projects that build on past and existing work in the community and evaluated case studies in peer neighborhoods where these options have been implemented successfully. We analyzed the suitability of each option for implementation in Delridge based on six goals (see <u>Table 1</u>).

We found that all eight of the options were likely to achieve at least one of the goals, while only Linear Parks, Safe Routes to School Transportation Planning, and Farmers' Markets were able to meet all of the stated goals for active living or food access. Because some options may be preferable or more feasible to adopt for reasons beyond the goals included in this analysis, we recommend that City and neighborhood organizations find ways to combine multiple options to maximize their benefits. Program implementers should incorporate elements of education, outreach and marketing for any program or project, as well as take into account cultural considerations to increase access for diverse populations in Delridge. For active living options, projects should also focus on engineering and design, as well as safety enhancements. We also included planning tools to support the development of food access programs, and recommended integrating SNAP and WIC benefits.

The analysis of these strategies identified benefits and tradeoffs to inform neighborhood planning for Delridge, as well as provide information for other neighborhoods struggling with barriers to food access and activity. It is important to recognize that Delridge has hosted a number of studies and programs on active living and food access from dedicated agencies. Future work in Delridge should work towards setting measurable goals and evaluating programs' effectiveness. Evaluating successes and failures over time can provide valuable information to ensure programs are achieving the targeted health outcomes and help determine future courses of action. Finally, it is important that agencies working in Delridge collaborate and share resources to ensure that Delridge supports physical activity in daily life and provide available fresh, healthy and culturally relevant food. Through a partnership between residents, non-profit organizations and the City, Delridge can become a healthier community with resources for social and economic opportunities.

This research is intended to help policymakers locally and nationally understand the impacts and importance community design has on health outcomes. Many of the barriers existing in communities today can be alleviated through pursuing programs that are focused on building on existing assets in the community and targeted towards improving health outcomes for vulnerable populations who lack access to physical activities and healthy food.

APPENDIX A: TOOLKITS AND RESOURCES TABLE

Table 16. Toolkit box

What Does it	Description	Resources/Toolkits
Address?		
Information on Food Access Programs and Policies	Case studies, how to use it, challenges, key players, success factors, financing, policy recommendations	"Equity Tools." <i>PolicyLink</i> . Accessed May 27, 2014. <u>http://www.policylink.org/equity-tools/equitable-development-toolkit/health-equity-and-place</u> .
Safe Routes to Schools in Low- Income Communities	Implementing Safe Routes to School in Low-Income Schools and Communities	Safe Routes to School National Partnership. "Implementing Safe Routes to School in Low-Income Schools and Communities," June 2010. <u>http://www.saferoutespartnership.org/sites/</u> <u>default/files/pdf/LowIncomeGuide.pdf</u> .
Implementation of Programs	10 Key Questions and Lessons for Launching Government Programs	Key Questions for Launching an Effective Government Program." <i>Governing</i> . Accessed May 28, 2014. <u>http://www.governing.com/blogs/bfc/col-10-</u> <u>key-questions-lessons-launching-</u> <u>government-program.html</u> .
Supporting Food Access Programs	Includes roles that planners, economic developers, elected officials and community champions have in food innovation district development and the steps they can take. Includes a how-to worksheet and zoning guidance	Cantrell, Patty, Kathryn Colasanti, Laura Goddeeris, Sarah Lucas, Matt McCauley, Michigan State University Urban Planning Practicum 2012. <i>Food Innovation Districts: An</i> <i>Economic Gardening Tool</i> . Northwest Michigan Council of Governments. March 2013. http://www.nwm.org/userfiles/filemanager/ 1753/.
Safe Routes to Schools	Describes five recommendations to encourage the development of safer routes to schools and active transportation: Engineering, Education, Encouragement, Enforcement, Evaluation	"About Safe Routes to School." <i>Seattle</i> <i>Department of Transportation</i> . Accessed May 27, 2014. <u>http://www.seattle.gov/transportation/safero</u> <u>utes_about.htm</u> .

Food	Provides land use tools for	Dansby, Nicholas, Zane Grennell, Michelle
Entrepreneurialism	communities seeking to create and expand a regional food industry	Leppek, Sean McNaughton, Marlon Phillips, Kirstie Sieloff, Claire Wilke, Michigan State University School of Planning, Design and Construction. Food Innovation Districts: A Land Use Tool for Communities Seeking to Create and Expand a Regional Food Industry. April, 2012. http://www.reicenter.org/upload/documents /food_report.pdf.
Land Use Policies for Farmer's Markets	Provides land use policies to protect and promote farmers' markets	Wooten, Heather, Amy Ackerman. Change Lab Solutions. From the Ground Up: Land Use Policies to Protect and Promote Farmers' Markets. http://changelabsolutions.org/sites/default/fi les/From the Ground Up- Farmers Markets_FINAL_20130415.pdf.
Food Hubs	Provides an overview of successful food hubs and key challenges and strategies for supporting them	"Food Hubs." Healthy Food Access Portal. Accessed May 27, 2014. <u>http://healthyfoodaccess.org/retail-</u> <u>strategy/food-hub?destination=node/321</u> .
Linear Parks, Recreation, and Open Space Planning	Provides parks planning processes and criteria for linear parks	Washington State Department of Community, Trade and Economic Development, Interagency Committee for Outdoor Recreation, Local Government Division, and Growth Management Services. "Planning for Parks, Recreation, and Open Space in Your Community," February 2005. <u>http://www.commerce.wa.gov/Documents/ GMS-Planning-for-Parks-Recreation-Open- Space.pdf</u> .

APPENDIX B: ENDNOTES

- ¹ Seattle Women's Commission, Seattle City Councilmember Mike O'Brien, and the Office of Sustainability and Environment. "Seattle Women and Food Access: Learning from Women in Delridge," March 2014. <u>http://cosobrien.wpengine.netdna-cdn.com/wp-content/uploads/2014/03/Final-Report-With-Appendix1.pdf</u>.
- ² Seattle Women's Commission, Seattle City Councilmember Mike O'Brien, and the Office of Sustainability and Environment. "Seattle Women and Food Access: Learning from Women in Delridge," March 2014. <u>http://cosobrien.wpengine.netdna-cdn.com/wp-content/uploads/2014/03/Final-Report-With-Appendix1.pdf</u>.
- ³ Center for Community Health and Evaluation. "Group Health Community Health Needs Assessment 2013-2015." Accessed May 23, 2014. <u>https://www1.ghc.org/static/pdf/public/about/community-assessment-2013.pdf</u>.
- ⁴ Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, "Planning and Health Resource Guide for Designing and Building Healthy Neighborhoods," *Designing and Building Healthy Places*. Accessed June 2, 2014. <u>http://www.cdc.gov/healthyplaces/toolkit/planning_for_health_resource_guide.pdf</u>.
- ⁵ Danaei g, ding el, Mozaffarian d, taylor B, rehm j, Murray cjl, ezzati M. the preventable causes of death in the united states: comparative risk assessment of dietary, lifestyle, and metabolic risk factors. PLoS Medcine. 2009;6(4).
- ⁶ Urban Form Lab. Department of Urban Design and Planning. University of Washington. "Benchmarking: Access to Food Sources and Physical Activity Facilities," August 2009. <u>http://s3.amazonaws.com/zanran_storage/king.wsu.edu/ContentPages/466882006.pdf</u>.
- ⁷ United States Department of Agriculture. "USDA Economic Research Service Go to the Atlas." Accessed May 27, 2014. <u>http://www.ers.usda.gov/data-products/food-access-research-atlas/go-to-the-atlas.aspx#.U4TY3cRDtQi</u>.
- ⁸ United States Department of Agriculture. "Food Deserts & How Are Food Deserts Identified?" Agricultural Marketing Service. Accessed May 23, 2014. <u>http://apps.ams.usda.gov/fooddeserts/foodDeserts.aspx</u>.
- ⁹ Seattle Women's Commission, Seattle City Councilmember Mike O'Brien, and the Office of Sustainability and Environment. "Seattle Women and Food Access: Learning from Women in Delridge," March 2014. http://cosobrien.wpengine.netdna-cdn.com/wp-content/uploads/2014/03/Final-Report-With-Appendix1.pdf.
- ¹⁰ Seattle Women's Commission, Seattle City Councilmember Mike O'Brien, and the Office of Sustainability and Environment. "Seattle Women and Food Access: Learning from Women in Delridge," March 2014. <u>http://cosobrien.wpengine.netdna-cdn.com/wp-content/uploads/2014/03/Final-Report-With-Appendix1.pdf.</u>
- ¹¹ Seattle Women's Commission, Seattle City Councilmember Mike O'Brien, and the Office of Sustainability and Environment. "Seattle Women and Food Access: Learning from Women in Delridge," March 2014. <u>http://cosobri.n.wpengine.netdna-cdn.com/wp-content/uploads/2014/03/Final-Report-With-Appendix1.pdf</u>.
- ¹² International City/County Management Association. "Active Living and Social Equity: Creating Healthy Communities for All Residents." January 2005. http://www.leadershipforhealthycommunities.org/images/stories/rpt_icma_jan2005.pdf.
- ¹³ Department of Planning and Development. City of Seattle. "Delridge Corridor Assessment Background Analysis Report," December 2012.

- ¹⁴ U.S. Department of Health and Human Services. The Surgeon General's call to action to prevent and decrease overweight and obesity. [Rockville, MD]: U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, Public Health Service, Office of the Surgeon General; [2001]. Available from: U.S. GPO, Washington.
- ¹⁵ Health Department. Tacoma Pierce County. "Planning for Healthy Communities." Accessed May 23, 2014. <u>http://www.tpchd.org/environment/planning-healthy-communities/</u>.
- ¹⁶ Policy Link. "Health Equity 101 Final May 2014 AS.pdf," 2014. <u>http://www.policylink.org/sites/default/files/Health%20Equity%20101%20Final%20May%202014%20AS.pdf.</u>
- ¹⁷ Active Living Research. What is Active Living?. <u>http://activelivingresearch.org/about/whatisactiveliving</u>. Accessed May 21, 2014
- ¹⁸ International City/County Management Association. "Active Living and Social Equity: Creating Healthy Communities for All Residents," January 2005. <u>http://www.leadershipforhealthycommunities.org/images/stories/rpt_icma_jan2005.pdf</u>.
- ¹⁹ Powell, Lisa, Sandy Slater, and Frank Chaloupka. "The Relationship Between Community Physical Activity Settings and Race, Ethnicity and Socioeconomic Status." Evidence-Based Preventive Medicine, 2014: 1(2) 135-144.
- ²⁰ National Recreation and Park Association. "Parks and Recreation: Essential Partners in Active Transportation." Accessed May 21, 2014. <u>http://www.nrpa.org/uploadedFiles/nrpa.org/Publications_and_Research/Research/ActiveTransportation_Final_HIGH.pdf.</u>
- ²¹ Ver Ploeg, Michele. Access to Affordable and Nutritious Food: Measuring and Understanding Food Deserts and Their Consequences: Report to Congress. DIANE Publishing, 2010. <u>http://books.google.com/books?hl=en&lr=&id=ChwzY1-</u>

 $\frac{x_6QC\&oi=fnd\&pg=PT4\&dq=\%22access,+the+lack+of+transportation+infrastructure+is+the+most+de\%EF}{\%AC\%81ning\%22+\%22Ryan+Williams+of+ERS\%3B+Kelly+Kinnison,+Carol+Olander,+and+Anita+Singh+of\%22+\%22A+Access+to+Affordable+and+Nutritious\%22+&ots=kv8oQagodl&sig=A3S-HTcpOUGusNcYF06V2WeyXjk.}$

- ²² Seattle Women's Commission, Seattle City Councilmember Mike O'Brien, and The Office of Sustainability and Environment. "Seattle Women and Food Access: Learning from Women in Delridge," March 2014. <u>http://cosobrien.wpengine.netdna-cdn.com/wp-content/uploads/2014/03/Final-Report-With-Appendix1.pdf</u>.
- ²³ Seattle Department of Transportation. "Delridge Way SW Safety Improvements." Accessed May 23, 2014. <u>http://www.seattle.gov/transportation/docs/Delridge%20Way%20FAQs-BTG.pdf.</u>
- ²⁴ Seattle Department of Transportation. "Delridge Way SW Safety Improvements." Accessed May 23, 2014. <u>http://www.seattle.gov/transportation/docs/Delridge%20Way%20FAQs-BTG.pdf.</u>
- ²⁵ "Pro Parks Project Information Puget Boulevard Commons Development, Cottage Grove Park Development, and Greg Davis Park Improvements." Seattle Parks and Recreation. Accessed June 5, 2014. <u>http://www.seattle.gov/parks/projects/pugetblvd.htm</u>.
- ²⁶ Seattle Women's Commission, Seattle City Councilmember Mike O'Brien, and The Office of Sustainability and Environment. "Seattle Women and Food Access: Learning from Women in Delridge," March 2014. <u>http://cosobrien.wpengine.netdna-cdn.com/wp-content/uploads/2014/03/Final-Report-With-Appendix1.pdf</u>.
- ²⁷ Urban Form Lab. Department of Urban Design and Planning. University of Washington. "Benchmarking: Access to Food Sources and Physical Activity Facilities," August 2009. <u>http://s3.amazonaws.com/zanran_storage/king.wsu.edu/ContentPages/466882006.pdf</u>.

- ²⁸ Urban Form Lab. Department of Urban Design and Planning. University of Washington. "Benchmarking: Access to Food Sources and Physical Activity Facilities," August 2009. http://s3.amazonaws.com/zanran_storage/king.wsu.edu/ContentPages/466882006.pdf.
- ²⁹ Seattle Parks and Recreation. "Delridge Skatepark Project Information." Accessed May 23, 2014. <u>http://www.seattle.gov/parks/projects/skateboard/delridge.htm.</u>
- ³⁰ Tom Fucoloro. "Delridge Neighborhood Greenway Now Officially Open." *Seattle Bike Blog*, January 21, 2014. <u>http://www.seattlebikeblog.com/2014/01/21/delridge-neighborhood-greenway-now-officially-open/</u>.
- ³¹ Seattle Department of Transportation. "Delridge/Highland Park Neighborhood Greenway," April 2, 2014. <u>http://www.seattle.gov/transportation/delridgehighparkgreenway.htm</u>.
- ³² Seattle Department of Neighborhoods. "P-Patch Community Gardens." Accessed May 23, 2014. <u>http://www.seattle.gov/neighborhoods/ppatch/locations/16.htm</u>.
- ³³ Seattle Department of Neighborhoods. "P-Patch Community Gardens." Accessed May 23, 2014. <u>http://www.seattle.gov/neighborhoods/ppatch/locations/16.htm.</u>
- ³⁴ Seattle Department of Neighborhoods. "P-Patch Community Gardening Program." Accessed May 23, 2014. <u>http://www.seattle.gov/neighborhoods/ppatch/gardening.htm</u>.
- ³⁵ W.K. Kellogg Foundation. "F.E.E.S.T. Empowers Seattle Youth." Accessed May 23, 2014. <u>http://www.wkkf.org/what-we-do/featured-work/feest-empowers-seattle-youth.</u>
- ³⁶ W.K. Kellogg Foundation. "FEEST: Youth Food and Empowerment Program Takes Root and Grows." Accessed May 23, 2014. <u>http://www.wkkf.org/what-we-do/featured-work/feest-youth-food-and-empowerment-programtakes-root-and-grows</u>
- ³⁷ Urban FOODLINK. "Healthy Foods Here." Accessed May 23, 2014. http://www.urbanfoodlink.com/?page_id=637.
- ³⁸ Seattle Women's Commission, Seattle City Councilmember Mike O'Brien, and The Office of Sustainability and Environment. "Seattle Women and Food Access: Learning from Women in Delridge," March 2014. <u>http://cosobrien.wpengine.netdna-cdn.com/wp-content/uploads/2014/03/Final-Report-With-Appendix1.pdf</u>.
- ³⁹ Stockbox. "About Stockbox." Accessed May 23, 2014. <u>http://stockboxgrocers.com/about/</u>.
- ⁴⁰ Dewey, Sarah. "Canned Goods." Seattle Business Magazine, January 2012. <u>http://seattlebusinessmag.com/article/canned-goods</u>.
- ⁴¹ Dewey, Sarah. "Canned Goods." *Seattle Business Magazine*, January 2012. <u>http://seattlebusinessmag.com/article/canned-goods</u>.
- ⁴² North Delridge Neighborhood Council. "March Meeting Minutes," March 19, 2012. <u>http://www.ndnc.org/2012/03/19/march-meeting-minutes/</u>.
- ⁴³ Stockbox. "About Stockbox." Accessed May 23, 2014. <u>http://stockboxgrocers.com/about/</u>.
- ⁴⁴ Seattle Women's Commission, Seattle City Councilmember Mike O'Brien, and The Office of Sustainability and Environment. "Seattle Women and Food Access: Learning from Women in Delridge," March 2014. <u>http://cosobrien.wpengine.netdna-cdn.com/wp-content/uploads/2014/03/Final-Report-With-Appendix1.pdf</u>.
- ⁴⁵ Delridge Grocery. "Delridge Grocery: A Community Coop in the Heart of Delridge." Accessed May 23, 2014. <u>http://delridgegrocery.coop/</u>.
- ⁴⁶ Delridge Grocery. "Become A Member." Accessed May 23, 2014. <u>http://delridgegrocery.coop/member/membership.html</u>.

- ⁴⁷ Little Red Hen. "Weekends in the Garden' Starting at Delridge Community Center." *The Little Red Hen Project at North Delridge*. Accessed May 23, 2014. <u>http://thelittleredhenproject.wordpress.com/</u>.
- ⁴⁸ Seattle Women's Commission, Seattle City Councilmember Mike O'Brien, and The Office of Sustainability and Environment. "Seattle Women and Food Access: Learning from Women in Delridge," March 2014. <u>http://cosobrien.wpengine.netdna-cdn.com/wp-content/uploads/2014/03/Final-Report-With-Appendix1.pdf.</u>
- ⁴⁹ Little Red Hen. "Weekends in the Garden' Starting at Delridge Community Center." *The Little Red Hen Project at North Delridge*. Accessed May 23, 2014. <u>http://thelittleredhenproject.wordpress.com/</u>.
- ⁵⁰ West Seattle Blog. "What's Cooking? New Classes at Delridge Community Center." Accessed May 23, 2014. http://westseattleblog.com/2014/02/whats-cooking-new-classes-at-delridge-community-center/.
- ⁵¹ Seattle Parks and Recreation. "EXPLORE MORE: 2014 Winter Seattle & South Park (Community Centers Brochure)." Accessed May 23, 2014. <u>http://www.seattle.gov/parks/centers/westseattle/winter14.pdf</u>.
- ⁵² Meetup. "Indian Food Cooking Class." Pacific Northwest Cooking and Recipes Meetup. Accessed May 23, 2014. <u>http://www.meetup.com/PacificNWCookingAndRecipes/events/169427162/</u>.
- ⁵³ Seattle Women's Commission, Seattle City Councilmember Mike O'Brien, and The Office of Sustainability and Environment. "Seattle Women and Food Access: Learning from Women in Delridge," March 2014. <u>http://cosobrien.wpengine.netdna-cdn.com/wp-content/uploads/2014/03/Final-Report-With-Appendix1.pdf</u>.
- ⁵⁴ Lachapelle, Ugo, and Lawrence D Frank. "Transit and Health: Mode of Transport, Employer-Sponsored Public Transit Pass Programs, and Physical Activity." *Journal of Public Health Policy* 30 (2009): S73–S94. doi:10.1057/jphp.2008.52.
- ⁵⁵ International City/County Management Association. "Active Living and Social Equity: Creating Healthy Communities for All Residents." January 2005. <u>http://www.leadershipforhealthycommunities.org/images/stories/rpt_icma_jan2005.pdf</u>.
- ⁵⁶ Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. "Planning for Health Resource Guide for Design and Building Healthy Neighborhoods." Accessed May 20, 2014. http://www.cdc.gov/healthyplaces/toolkit/planning for health resource guide.pdf.
- ⁵⁷ Dannenberg, Andrew L., Richard J. Jackson, Howard Frumkin, Richard A. Schieber, Michael Pratt, Chris Kochtitzky, and Hugh H. Tilson. "The Impact of Community Design and Land-Use Choices on Public Health: A Scientific Research Agenda." *American Journal of Public Health* 93, no. 9 (September 2003): 1500–1508.
- ⁵⁸ Dannenberg, Andrew L., Richard J. Jackson, Howard Frumkin, Richard A. Schieber, Michael Pratt, Chris Kochtitzky, and Hugh H. Tilson. "The Impact of Community Design and Land-Use Choices on Public Health: A Scientific Research Agenda." *American Journal of Public Health* 93, no. 9 (September 2003): 1500–1508.
- ⁵⁹ Organization, World Health. "Charter on Transport, Environment and Health: Third Ministerial Conference on Environment and Health, London, 16-18 June 1999," 1999. <u>http://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/108308</u>.
- ⁶⁰ General, United States Public Health Service Office of the Surgeon, Centers for Disease Control, National Center for Chronic Disease Prevention, Health Promotion (US), President's Council on Physical Fitness, and Sports (US). *Physical Activity and Health: A Report of the Surgeon General*. Jones & Bartlett Learning, 1996. <u>http://books.google.com/books?hl=en&lr=&id=sASnZqD4CGUC&oi=fnd&pg=PA3&dq=%22par+with+the+Surgeon+General%E2%80%99s+historic+first+report+on+smoking+and%22+%22should+consider+picking+up+the+pace:+this+report+says+that+people+who%22+%22and+our%22+&ots=nfHATXihfc&sig=I-9seCRvYGxku0C6AzV8QLN1eX4.</u>
- ⁶¹ United States, and Department of Health and Human Services. 2008 Physical Activity Guidelines for Americans: Be Active, Healthy, and Happy! [Washington, D.C.]: U.S. Dept. of Health and Human Services : For sale by the Supt. of Docs., U.S. G.P.O., 2008.

- ⁶² International City/County Management Association. "Active Living and Social Equity: Creating Healthy Communities for All Residents." January 2005. http://www.leadershipforhealthycommunities.org/images/stories/rpt_icma_jan2005.pdf.
- ⁶³ Litman, Todd. "Transportation and Public Health." *Annual Review of Public Health* 34, no. 1 (March 18, 2013): 217–33. doi:10.1146/annurev-publhealth-031912-114502.
- ⁶⁴ Litman, Todd. "Transportation and Public Health." *Annual Review of Public Health* 34, no. 1 (March 18, 2013): 217–33. doi:10.1146/annurev-publhealth-031912-114502.
- ⁶⁵ Safe Routes to School National Partnership. "Implementing Safe Routes to School in Low-Income Schools and Communities," June 2010. <u>http://www.saferoutespartnership.org/sites/default/files/pdf/LowIncomeGuide.pdf</u>.
- ⁶⁶ Black, Jl, and J Macinko. "Neighborhoods and Obesity." Nutrition Reviews 66, no. 1 (2008): 2–20.
- ⁶⁷ International City/County Management Association. "Active Living and Social Equity: Creating Healthy Communities for All Residents." January 2005. <u>http://www.leadershipforhealthycommunities.org/images/stories/rpt_icma_jan2005.pdf</u>.
- ⁶⁸ Urban Form Lab. Department of Urban Design and Planning. University of Washington. "Benchmarking: Access to Food Sources and Physical Activity Facilities," August 2009. <u>http://s3.amazonaws.com/zanran_storage/king.wsu.edu/ContentPages/466882006.pdf</u>.
- ⁶⁹ Besser, Lilah M., and Andrew L. Dannenberg. "Walking to Public Transit: Steps to Help Meet Physical Activity Recommendations." *American Journal of Preventive Medicine* 29, no. 4 (November 2005): 273–80. doi:10.1016/j.amepre.2005.06.010.
- ⁷⁰ Department of Planning and Development. City of Seattle. "Delridge Corridor Assessment Background Analysis Report," December 2012.
- ⁷¹ Conference on Research on Women's Issues in Transportation, National Research Council (U.S.), Transportation Research Board, United States, and Federal Highway Administration, eds. *Research on Women's Issues in Transportation, Report of a Conference. Volume 2*. Washington, D.C.: Transportation Research Board, 2005: 79-88.
- ⁷² Loukaitou-Sideris, Anastasia. How to Ease Women's Fear of Transportation Environments: Case Studies and Best Practices, October 2009. <u>http://transweb.sjsu.edu/MTIportal/research/publications/documents/2611-women-transportation.pdf</u>.
- ⁷³ International City/County Management Association. "Active Living and Social Equity: Creating Healthy Communities for All Residents." January 2005. http://www.leadershipforhealthycommunities.org/images/stories/rpt_icma_jan2005.pdf.
- ⁷⁴ Loukaitou-Sideris, Anastasia. How to Ease Women's Fear of Transportation Environments: Case Studies and Best Practices, October 2009. <u>http://transweb.sjsu.edu/MTIportal/research/publications/documents/2611-women-transportation.pdf</u>.
- ⁷⁵ Let's Move! "Accomplishments." Accessed May 23, 2014. <u>http://www.letsmove.gov/accomplishments</u>.
- ⁷⁶ Let's Move! "Accomplishments." Accessed May 23, 2014. <u>http://www.letsmove.gov/accomplishments</u>.
- ⁷⁷ Let's Move! "Accomplishments." Accessed May 23, 2014. <u>http://www.letsmove.gov/accomplishments</u>.
- ⁷⁸ National Center for Safe Routes to School. "National Progress." Accessed May 23, 2014. <u>http://www.saferoutesinfo.org/data-central/national-progress</u>.
- ⁷⁹ National Center for Safe Routes to School. "Trends in Walking and Bicycling to School from 2007 to 2012," October 2013.

http://saferoutesinfo.org/sites/default/files/Trends in Walking and Bicycling to School from 2007 to 201 2_FINAL.pdf.

- ⁸⁰ National Center for Safe Routes to School. "Trends in Walking and Bicycling to School from 2007 to 2012," October 2013. <u>http://saferoutesinfo.org/sites/default/files/Trends_in_Walking_and_Bicycling_to_School_from_2007_to_201_2_FINAL.pdf.</u>
- ⁸¹ Active Living By Design. "Seattle, WA." Accessed May 23, 2014. <u>http://www.activelivingbydesign.org/communities/profiles/seattle-wa.</u>
- ⁸² Active Living By Design. "Seattle, WA." Accessed May 23, 2014. <u>http://www.activelivingbydesign.org/communities/profiles/seattle-wa.</u>
- ⁸³ Active Living By Design. "Seattle, WA." Accessed May 23, 2014. <u>http://www.activelivingbydesign.org/communities/profiles/seattle-wa.</u>
- ⁸⁴ Active Living By Design. "Seattle, WA." Accessed May 23, 2014. <u>http://www.activelivingbydesign.org/communities/profiles/seattle-wa.</u>
- ⁸⁵ Seattle Neighborhood Greenways. "What Are Greenways?" Accessed May 23, 2014. <u>http://seattlegreenways.org/who-we-are/what-are-greenways/</u>.
- ⁸⁶ Seattle Neighborhood Greenways. "What Are Greenways?" Accessed May 23, 2014. <u>http://seattlegreenways.org/who-we-are/what-are-greenways/</u>.
- ⁸⁷ Seattle Neighborhood Greenways. "What Are Greenways?" Accessed May 23, 2014. <u>http://seattlegreenways.org/who-we-are/what-are-greenways/</u>.
- ⁸⁸ Whittenberg, Jake. "Seattle Bike Share Program to Launch next Year." May 3, 2013. http://www.king5.com/news/cities/seattle/Seattle-Bike-Share-Program-to-Launch-in-2014-205949051.html.
- ⁸⁹ Whittenberg, Jake. "Seattle Bike Share Program to Launch next Year." May 3, 2013. <u>http://www.king5.com/news/cities/seattle/Seattle-Bike-Share-Program-to-Launch-in-2014-205949051.html</u>.
- ⁹⁰ Treuhaft, Sarah, and Allison Karpyn. *The grocery gap: who has access to healthy food and why it matters*. PolicyLink, 2010.
- ⁹¹ United States Department of Agriculture. "Food Deserts & How Are Food Deserts Identified?" Agricultural Marketing Service. Accessed May 23, 2014. <u>http://apps.ams.usda.gov/fooddeserts/foodDeserts.aspx</u>.
- ⁹² Ver Ploeg, Michele. Access to Affordable and Nutritious Food: Measuring and Understanding Food Deserts and Their Consequences: Report to Congress. DIANE Publishing, 2010. <u>http://books.google.com/books?hl=en&lr=&id=ChwzY1-</u> <u>x_6QC&oi=fnd&pg=PT4&dq=%22access,+the+lack+of+transportation+infrastructure+is+the+most+de%EF</u> <u>%AC%81ning%22+%22Ryan+Williams+of+ERS%3B+Kelly+Kinnison,+Carol+Olander,+and+Anita+Singh+</u> <u>of%22+%22A+Access+to+Affordable+and+Nutritious%22+&ots=kv8oQagodl&sig=A3S-</u> HTcpOUGusNcYF06V2WeyXik.
- ⁹³ Walker, Renee E., Christopher R. Keane, and Jessica G. Burke. "Disparities and Access to Healthy Food in the United States: A Review of Food Deserts Literature." Health & Place 16, no. 5 (September 2010): 876–84. doi:10.1016/j.healthplace.2010.04.013.
- ⁹⁴ Quandt, Sara A. "Food Insecurity and Hunger." In Encyclopedia of Social Problems, edited by Vincent N. Parrillo, 1:376–78. Thousand Oaks, CA: SAGE Publications, 2008. <u>http://go.galegroup.com/ps/i.do?id=GALE%7CCX3074000232&v=2.1&u=wash_main&it=r&p=GVRL&sw=w&asid=5fb76872b4db802913d2c89cccd31855</u>.

- ⁹⁵ United States Department of Agriculture. "Food Deserts & How Are Food Deserts Identified?" Agricultural Marketing Service. Accessed May 23, 2014. <u>http://apps.ams.usda.gov/fooddeserts/foodDeserts.aspx</u>.
- ⁹⁶ Got Green. "Women in the Green Economy: Voices from Southeast Seattle." Accessed May 27, 2014. <u>http://gotgreenseattle.files.wordpress.com/2011/09/gotgreen-women-report-lowres-9-11.pdf.</u>
- ⁹⁷ Treuhaft, Sarah, and Allison Karpyn. The Grocery Gap: Who Has Access to Healthy Food and Why It Matters. PolicyLink, 2010. <u>http://79.99.166.70/wp-content/uploads/2013/11/Treuhaft-Sarah-2009-The-Grocery-Gap.pdf</u>.
- ⁹⁸ Treuhaft, Sarah, and Allison Karpyn. The Grocery Gap: Who Has Access to Healthy Food and Why It Matters. PolicyLink, 2010. <u>http://79.99.166.70/wp-content/uploads/2013/11/Treuhaft-Sarah-2009-The-Grocery-Gap.pdf</u>.
- ⁹⁹ Lee, Helen. "The Role of Local Food Availability in Explaining Obesity Risk among Young School-Aged Children." Social Science & Medicine 74, no. 8 (April 2012): 1193–1203. doi:10.1016/j.socscimed.2011.12.036.
- ¹⁰⁰ An, Ruopeng, and Roland Sturm. "School and Residential Neighborhood Food Environment and Diet Among California Youth." Product Page, 2012. <u>http://www.rand.org/pubs/external_publications/EP20120028.html</u>.
- ¹⁰¹ Cummins, Steven, Ellen Flint, and Stephen A. Matthews. "New Neighborhood Grocery Store Increased Awareness Of Food Access But Did Not Alter Dietary Habits Or Obesity." *Health Affairs* 33, no. 2 (February 1, 2014): 283–91. doi:10.1377/hlthaff.2013.0512.
- ¹⁰² Boone-Heinonen J, Gordon-Larsen P, Kiefe CI, Shikany JM, Lewis CE, and Popkin BM. "Fast Food Restaurants and Food Stores: Longitudinal Associations with Diet in Young to Middle-Aged Adults: The Cardia Study." *Archives of Internal Medicine* 171, no. 13 (July 11, 2011): 1162–70. doi:10.1001/archinternmed.2011.283.
- ¹⁰³ Drewnowski, A., A. V. Moudon, J. Jiao, A. Aggarwal, H. Charreire, and B. Chaix. "Food Environment and Socioeconomic Status Influence Obesity Rates in Seattle and in Paris." *International Journal of Obesity* 38, no. 2 (February 2014): 306–14. doi:10.1038/ijo.2013.97.
- ¹⁰⁴ Cummins, Steven, Ellen Flint, and Stephen A. Matthews. "New Neighborhood Grocery Store Increased Awareness Of Food Access But Did Not Alter Dietary Habits Or Obesity." *Health Affairs* 33, no. 2 (February 1, 2014): 283–91. doi:10.1377/hlthaff.2013.0512.
- ¹⁰⁵ Gittelsohn, J, M Rowan, and P Gadhoke. "Interventions in Small Food Stores to Change the Food Environment, Improve Diet, and Reduce Risk of Chronic Disease." *Preventing Chronic Disease*, February 2012. doi:10.5888/pcd9.110015.
- ¹⁰⁶ Gittelsohn, J, M Rowan, and P Gadhoke. "Interventions in Small Food Stores to Change the Food Environment, Improve Diet, and Reduce Risk of Chronic Disease." *Preventing Chronic Disease*, February 2012. doi:10.5888/pcd9.110015.
- ¹⁰⁷ Weatherspoon, Dave D., Michele Ver Ploeg, and Paula Dutko. "An Evaluation of Food Deserts in America." *Choices* 27, no. 3 (2012). <u>http://www.choicesmagazine.org/magazine/pdf/cmstheme_250.pdf</u>.
- ¹⁰⁸ United States Department of Agriculture. "USDA Economic Research Service Go to the Atlas." Accessed May 27, 2014. <u>http://www.ers.usda.gov/data-products/food-access-research-atlas/go-to-the-atlas.aspx#.U4TY3cRDtQi</u>.
- ¹⁰⁹ Urban Form Lab. Department of Urban Design and Planning. University of Washington. "Benchmarking: Access to Food Sources and Physical Activity Facilities," August 2009. <u>http://s3.amazonaws.com/zanran_storage/king.wsu.edu/ContentPages/466882006.pdf</u>.
- ¹¹⁰ Diane Lupke & Associates, Inc. "Delridge Grocery Store Market Analysis," October 2011. <u>http://www.ndnc.org/wp-content/uploads/2012/03/Delridge-grocery-store-market-analysis.pdf.</u>

- ¹¹¹ Treuhaft, Sarah, and Allison Karpyn. The Grocery Gap: Who Has Access to Healthy Food and Why It Matters. PolicyLink, 2010. <u>http://79.99.166.70/wp-content/uploads/2013/11/Treuhaft-Sarah-2009-The-Grocery-Gap.pdf.</u>
- ¹¹² Freedman, Darcy A. "Local Food Environments: They're All Stocked Differently." American Journal of Community Psychology 44, no. 3–4 (December 2009): 382–93. doi:10.1007/s10464-009-9272-6.
- ¹¹³ Department of Urban Design and Planning. University of Washington. "Food for Thought: Groundwork for the King County Food & Fitness Initiative," Summer 2008. <u>http://courses.washington.edu/studio67/kcffi/Food for Thought Draft 08212008.pdf</u>.
- ¹¹⁴ Urban Form Lab. Department of Urban Design and Planning. University of Washington. "Benchmarking: Access to Food Sources and Physical Activity Facilities," August 2009. <u>http://s3.amazonaws.com/zanran_storage/king.wsu.edu/ContentPages/466882006.pdf</u>.
- ¹¹⁵ Malekafzali, S. "Healthy, Equitable Transportation Policy: Recommendations and Research.," 2009, 184 pp.
- ¹¹⁶ Treuhaft, Sarah, and Allison Karpyn. *The Grocery Gap: Who Has Access to Healthy Food and Why It Matters*. PolicyLink, 2010. <u>http://79.99.166.70/wp-content/uploads/2013/11/Treuhaft-Sarah-2009-The-Grocery-Gap.pdf</u>.
- ¹¹⁷ Jiao, Junfeng, Anne Vernez Moudon, and Adam Drewnowski. "Grocery Shopping: How Individuals and Built Environments Influence Choice of Travel Mode." *Transportation Research Record: Journal of the Transportation Research Board* 2230, no. -1 (December 1, 2011): 85–95. doi:10.3141/2230-10.
- ¹¹⁸McDonald, Noreen C. "Does Residential Density Affect the Travel 'Gender Gap'?" In Transportation Research Board Conference Proceedings, 2005. <u>http://trid.trb.org/view/773068</u>.
- ¹¹⁹ Malekafzali, S. "Healthy, Equitable Transportation Policy: Recommendations and Research.," 2009, 184 pp.
- ¹²⁰ Malekafzali, S. "Healthy, Equitable Transportation Policy: Recommendations and Research.," 2009, 184 pp.
- ¹²¹ Department of Urban Design and Planning. University of Washington. "Food for Thought: Groundwork for the King County Food & Fitness Initiative," Summer 2008. http://courses.washington.edu/studio67/kcffi/Food for Thought Draft 08212008.pdf.
- ¹²² Department of Urban Design and Planning. University of Washington. "Food for Thought: Groundwork for the King County Food & Fitness Initiative," Summer 2008. <u>http://courses.washington.edu/studio67/kcffi/Food for Thought Draft 08212008.pdf</u>.
- ¹²³ Seattle Women's Commission, and Seattle City Councilmember Mike O'Brien. "Food Access for Women in Seattle: Delridge Priorities - Executive Summary," n.d.
- ¹²⁴ Ver Ploeg, Michele. Access to Affordable and Nutritious Food: Measuring and Understanding Food Deserts and Their Consequences: Report to Congress. DIANE Publishing, 2010. <u>http://books.google.com/books?hl=en&lr=&id=ChwzY1-</u> <u>x_6QC&oi=fnd&pg=PT4&dq=%22access,+the+lack+of+transportation+infrastructure+is+the+most+de%EF</u> <u>%AC%81ning%22+%22Ryan+Williams+of+ERS%3B+Kelly+Kinnison,+Carol+Olander,+and+Anita+Singh+of%22+%22A+Access+to+Affordable+and+Nutritious%22+&ots=kv8oQagodl&sig=A3S-HTcpOUGusNcYF06V2WeyXjk.</u>
- ¹²⁵ Ver Ploeg, Michele. Access to Affordable and Nutritious Food: Measuring and Understanding Food Deserts and Their Consequences: Report to Congress. DIANE Publishing, 2010. <u>http://books.google.com/books?hl=en&lr=&id=ChwzY1-</u> <u>x_6QC&oi=fnd&pg=PT4&dq=%22access,+the+lack+of+transportation+infrastructure+is+the+most+de%EF</u> <u>%AC%81ning%22+%22Ryan+Williams+of+ERS%3B+Kelly+Kinnison,+Carol+Olander,+and+Anita+Singh+of%22+%22A+Access+to+Affordable+and+Nutritious%22+&ots=kv8oQagodl&sig=A3S-HTcpOUGusNcYF06V2WeyXjk.</u>

- ¹²⁶ Seattle Women's Commission, Seattle City Councilmember Mike O'Brien, and The Office of Sustainability and Environment. "Seattle Women and Food Access: Learning from Women in Delridge," March 2014. <u>http://cosobrien.wpengine.netdna-cdn.com/wp-content/uploads/2014/03/Final-Report-With-Appendix1.pdf</u>.
- ¹²⁷ Healthy Corner Stores Network. "Healthy Corner Stores Q & A." Accessed May 27, 2014. <u>http://www.healthycornerstores.org/healthy-corner-stores-q-a.</u>
- ¹²⁸ Ver Ploeg, Michele. Access to Affordable and Nutritious Food: Measuring and Understanding Food Deserts and Their Consequences: Report to Congress. DIANE Publishing, 2010. <u>http://books.google.com/books?hl=en&lr=&id=ChwzY1-</u> <u>x_6QC&oi=fnd&pg=PT4&dq=%22access,+the+lack+of+transportation+infrastructure+is+the+most+de%EF</u> <u>%AC%81ning%22+%22Ryan+Williams+of+ERS%3B+Kelly+Kinnison,+Carol+Olander,+and+Anita+Singh+of%22+%22A+Access+to+Affordable+and+Nutritious%22+&ots=kv8oQagodl&sig=A3S-HTcpOUGusNcYF06V2WeyXjk.</u>
- ¹²⁹ Kretzmann, John P, John McKnight, Ill.) Northwestern University (Evanston, Center for Urban Affairs and Policy Research, and Neighborhood Innovations Network. *Building Communities from the inside out: A Path toward Finding and Mobilizing a Community's Assets*. Evanston, Ill.: Center for Urban Affairs and Policy Research, Neighborhood Innovations Network, Northwestern University, 1993.
- ¹³⁰ Department of Planning and Development. City of Seattle. "Delridge Corridor Assessment Background Analysis Report," December 2012.
- ¹³¹ Healthy Spaces & Places. "Design Principle Connectivity and Permeability," 2009. <u>http://www.healthyplaces.org.au/userfiles/file/Connectivity%20June09.pdf.</u>
- ¹³² Victoria Transport Policy Institute. "Roadway Connectivity: Creating More Connected Roadway and Pathway Networks." *TDM (Transport Demand Management) Encyclopedia*. Accessed May 27, 2014. <u>http://www.vtpi.org/tdm/tdm116.htm</u>.
- ¹³³ Seattle Women's Commission, Seattle City Councilmember Mike O'Brien, and The Office of Sustainability and Environment. "Seattle Women and Food Access: Learning from Women in Delridge," March 2014. <u>http://cosobrien.wpengine.netdna-cdn.com/wp-content/uploads/2014/03/Final-Report-With-Appendix1.pdf</u>
- ¹³⁴ Seattle Women's Commission, Seattle City Councilmember Mike O'Brien, and The Office of Sustainability and Environment. "Seattle Women and Food Access: Learning from Women in Delridge," March 2014. <u>http://cosobrien.wpengine.netdna-cdn.com/wp-content/uploads/2014/03/Final-Report-With-Appendix1.pdf</u>
- ¹³⁵ Review of *Delridge Neighborhood Plan*, by City of Seattle, March 1999. <u>http://www.seattle.gov/neighborhoods/npi/plans/delridge/Section1.pdf</u>.
- ¹³⁶ Project for Public Spaces (PPS). "What Is Place Making?" Accessed May 27, 2014. http://www.pps.org/reference/what is placemaking/.
- ¹³⁷ "5. Urban Linear Parks." Larry Houstoun's Urban Public Spaces & Business Improvement Districts. Accessed May 27, 2014. <u>http://lhoustoun.wordpress.com/public-spaces/chapter-5urban-linear-parks-from-urban-land-magazine/</u>.
- ¹³⁸ Soulliére, Laura E. "Historic Roads in the National Park System: Special History Study." Part 1 History Evolution of Parkways, October 1995. <u>http://www.cr.nps.gov/history/online_books/roads/index.htm</u>.
- ¹³⁹ "5. Urban Linear Parks." Larry Houstoun's Urban Public Spaces & Business Improvement Districts. Accessed May 27, 2014. <u>http://lhoustoun.wordpress.com/public-spaces/chapter-5urban-linear-parks-from-urban-land-magazine/</u>.

¹⁴⁰ Interview with Covington, Jay (Renton City Administrator). April 24, 2014.

- ¹⁴¹ "5. Urban Linear Parks." Larry Houstoun's Urban Public Spaces & Business Improvement Districts. Accessed May 27, 2014. <u>http://lhoustoun.wordpress.com/public-spaces/chapter-5urban-linear-parks-from-urban-land-magazine/</u>.
- ¹⁴² "5. Urban Linear Parks." Larry Houstoun's Urban Public Spaces & Business Improvement Districts. Accessed May 27, 2014. <u>http://lhoustoun.wordpress.com/public-spaces/chapter-5urban-linear-parks-from-urban-land-magazine/</u>.
- ¹⁴³ Naturally Fun. "Fish Creek Linear Park." Accessed May 27, 2014. <u>https://naturallyfun.org/fish-creek-linear-park</u>.
- ¹⁴⁴ Parks and Recreation Department. City of Grand Prairie. "Grand Prairie Parks and Recreation Parks and Trail System - Google Maps." Accessed May 27, 2014. <u>http://www.grandfungp.com/parks/trails.htm</u>
- ¹⁴⁵ Safe Routes to School National Partnership. "Implementing Safe Routes to School in Low-Income Schools and Communities," June 2010. <u>http://www.saferoutespartnership.org/sites/default/files/pdf/LowIncomeGuide.pdf</u>.
- ¹⁴⁶ Safe Routes to School National Partnership. "Implementing Safe Routes to School in Low-Income Schools and Communities," June 2010. <u>http://www.saferoutespartnership.org/sites/default/files/pdf/LowIncomeGuide.pdf</u>.
- ¹⁴⁷ Black, Jl, and J Macinko. "Neighborhoods and Obesity." Nutrition Reviews 66, no. 1 (2008): 2–20.
- ¹⁴⁸ International City/County Management Association. "Active Living and Social Equity: Creating Healthy Communities for All Residents." January 2005. <u>http://www.leadershipforhealthycommunities.org/images/stories/rpt_icma_jan2005.pdf</u>.
- ¹⁴⁹ "Safe Kids Coalitions in the United States." Safe Kids Worldwide. Accessed May 27, 2014. <u>http://www.safekids.org/coalitions</u>.
- ¹⁵⁰ O'neil, John. "VITAL SIGNS: SAFETY; Another Problem With Poverty." *The New York Times*, October 29, 2002, sec. Health. <u>http://www.nytimes.com/2002/10/29/health/vital-signs-safety-another-problem-with-poverty.html</u>.
- ¹⁵¹ Kerr, Jacqueline, Dori Rosenberg, James F. Sallis, Brian E. Saelens, Lawrennee D. Frank, and Terry L. Conway. "Active Commuting to School: Associations with Environment and Parental Concerns." *Medicine & Science in Sports & Exercise* April 2006 38, no. 4 (2006): 787–93. doi:10.1249/01.mss.0000210208.63565.73.
- ¹⁵² Interview with Brian Dougherty (City's Safe Routes to School Coordinator). May 15, 2014.
- ¹⁵³ Kerr, Jacqueline, Dori Rosenberg, James F. Sallis, Brian E. Saelens, Lawrennee D. Frank, and Terry L. Conway. "Active Commuting to School: Associations with Environment and Parental Concerns." *Medicine & Science in Sports & Exercise* April 2006 38, no. 4 (2006): 787–93. doi:10.1249/01.mss.0000210208.63565.73.
- ¹⁵⁴ Interview with Brian Dougherty (City's Safe Routes to School Coordinator). May 15, 2014.
- ¹⁵⁵ Safe Routes to School National Partnership. "Addressing the Needs of Low-Income Communities." Accessed May 27, 2014. <u>http://saferoutespartnership.org/state/state-resources/addressing-the-needs-of-low-incomecommunities.</u>
- ¹⁵⁶ Safe Routes to School National Partnership. "Addressing the Needs of Low-Income Communities." Accessed May 27, 2014. <u>http://saferoutespartnership.org/state/state-resources/addressing-the-needs-of-low-incomecommunities.</u>
- ¹⁵⁷ Safe Routes to School National Partnership. "Implementing Safe Routes to School in Low-Income Schools and Communities," June 2010. <u>http://www.saferoutespartnership.org/sites/default/files/pdf/LowIncomeGuide.pdf</u>.
- ¹⁵⁸ Safe Routes to School National Partnership. "Implementing Safe Routes to School in Low-Income Schools and Communities," June 2010. <u>http://www.saferoutespartnership.org/sites/default/files/pdf/LowIncomeGuide.pdf</u>.

- ¹⁵⁹ Safe Routes to School National Partnership. "Implementing Safe Routes to School in Low-Income Schools and Communities," June 2010. <u>http://www.saferoutespartnership.org/sites/default/files/pdf/LowIncomeGuide.pdf</u>.
- ¹⁶⁰ Safe Routes to School National Partnership. "Implementing Safe Routes to School in Low-Income Schools and Communities," June 2010. <u>http://www.saferoutespartnership.org/sites/default/files/pdf/LowIncomeGuide.pdf.</u>
- ¹⁶¹ Safe Routes to School National Partnership. "Implementing Safe Routes to School in Low-Income Schools and Communities," June 2010. <u>http://www.saferoutespartnership.org/sites/default/files/pdf/LowIncomeGuide.pdf</u>.
- ¹⁶² Safe Routes to School National Partnership. "Addressing the Needs of Low-Income Communities." Accessed May 27, 2014. <u>http://saferoutespartnership.org/state/state-resources/addressing-the-needs-of-low-incomecommunities.</u>
- ¹⁶³ Safe Routes to School National Partnership. "Implementing Safe Routes to School in Low-Income Schools and Communities," June 2010. <u>http://www.saferoutespartnership.org/sites/default/files/pdf/LowIncomeGuide.pdf.</u>
- ¹⁶⁴ NBC News Channel: Gym Focuses on "orange Zone" to Maximize Results. Accessed May 27, 2014. <u>http://www.nbcnews.com/video/nightly-news/48113544</u>.
- ¹⁶⁵ International City/County Management Association. "Active Living and Social Equity: Creating Healthy Communities for All Residents." January 2005. <u>http://www.leadershipforhealthycommunities.org/images/stories/rpt_icma_jan2005.pdf</u>.
- ¹⁶⁶ "The Rise of the Adult Playground." BBC News. Accessed May 27, 2014. http://www.bbc.co.uk/news/magazine-17818223.
- ¹⁶⁷ Building a Healthier Chicago (BHC). "Outdoor Adult Playgrounds Presentation for Consideration in Chicago." Accessed May 27, 2014. <u>http://www.healthierchicago.org/vertical/sites/%7B74F91AA8-F79E-483F-B678-0173A1115DE6%7D/uploads/AdultPlayground-FitZone_PresentationRANDStudyOverview.pdf.</u>
- ¹⁶⁸ The New York City Department of Health and Mental Hygiene. "Obesity in the South Bronx: A Look Across Generations," May 2007. <u>http://www.nyc.gov/html/doh/downloads/pdf/dpho/dpho-bronx-obesity.pdf</u>.
- ¹⁶⁹ Building a Healthier Chicago (BHC). "Outdoor Adult Playgrounds Presentation for Consideration in Chicago." Accessed May 27, 2014. <u>http://www.healthierchicago.org/vertical/sites/%7B74F91AA8-F79E-483F-B678-0173A1115DE6%7D/uploads/AdultPlayground-FitZone_PresentationRANDStudyOverview.pdf</u>.
- ¹⁷⁰ Hu, Winnie. "New York Introduces Its First Adult Playground." *The New York Times*, June 29, 2012, sec. N.Y. / Region. <u>http://www.nytimes.com/2012/07/01/nyregion/new-york-introduces-its-first-adult-playground.html</u>.
- ¹⁷¹ Enstrom, Allison M. "A Mom's Review: Momentum Parent Playground at Marymoor Park." *ParentMap*, July 26, 2012. <u>http://www.parentmap.com/article/a-moms-review-momentum-parent-playground-at-marymoor-park</u>.
- ¹⁷² "New York Introduces Its First Adult Playground." *Every Body Walk*. Accessed May 27, 2014. <u>http://everybodywalk.org/read/871-new-york-introduces-its-first-adult-playground.html</u>.
- ¹⁷³ "Building MOMentum, One Park At A Time." *MOMentum*. Accessed May 27, 2014. <u>http://www.momentumeverywhere.org/about/</u>.
- ¹⁷⁴ Building a Healthier Chicago (BHC). "Outdoor Adult Playgrounds Presentation for Consideration in Chicago." Accessed May 27, 2014. <u>http://www.healthierchicago.org/vertical/sites/%7B74F91AA8-F79E-483F-B678-0173A1115DE6%7D/uploads/AdultPlayground-FitZone_PresentationRANDStudyOverview.pdf.</u>
- ¹⁷⁵ Building a Healthier Chicago (BHC). "Outdoor Adult Playgrounds Presentation for Consideration in Chicago." Accessed May 27, 2014. <u>http://www.healthierchicago.org/vertical/sites/%7B74F91AA8-F79E-483F-B678-0173A1115DE6%7D/uploads/AdultPlayground-FitZone_PresentationRANDStudyOverview.pdf</u>.
- ¹⁷⁶ "New York Introduces Its First Adult Playground." *Every Body Walk*. Accessed May 27, 2014. <u>http://everybodywalk.org/read/871-new-york-introduces-its-first-adult-playground.html</u>.

- ¹⁷⁷ Dill, Jennifer. "Increasing Bicycling for Transportation: The Role of Cyclist Type and Infrastructure," 2010. <u>http://otrec.us/project/446</u>.
- ¹⁷⁸ DIY Bikes. "About Us | DIY Bikes." Accessed May 27, 2014. <u>http://diybikes.org/about/</u>.
- ¹⁷⁹ "Create a Commuter." *Community Cycling Center*. Accessed May 27, 2014. <u>http://www.communitycyclingcenter.org/index.php/programs-for-adults/create-a-commuter/.</u>
- ¹⁸⁰ "Create a Commuter." Community Cycling Center. Accessed May 27, 2014. http://www.communitycyclingcenter.org/index.php/programs-for-adults/create-a-commuter/.
- ¹⁸¹ "Create a Commuter." Community Cycling Center. Accessed May 27, 2014. http://www.communitycyclingcenter.org/index.php/programs-for-adults/create-a-commuter/.
- ¹⁸² "Who we are History." Neighborhood Bike Works. Accessed May 27, 2014. <u>http://www.neighborhoodbikeworks.org/who-we-are/history/</u>.
- ¹⁸³ "Programs Earn A Bike." Neighborhood Bike Works. Accessed May 27, 2014. <u>http://www.neighborhoodbikeworks.org/programs/earn-a-bike/</u>.
- ¹⁸⁴ "Neighborhood Bike Works Homepage." Neighborhood Bike Works. Accessed May 27, 2014. <u>http://www.neighborhoodbikeworks.org/</u>.
- ¹⁸⁵ Arcadia Center for Sustainable Food & Agriculture. "Mobile Markets: Applying the Food Truck Model to Food Access." Accessed May 27, 2014. http://policylinkcontent.s3.amazonaws.com/Arcadia Mobile Market Report Web.pdf.
- ¹⁸⁶ Widener, Michael J., Sara S. Metcalf, and Yaneer Bar-Yam. "Developing a Mobile Produce Distribution System for Low-Income Urban Residents in Food Deserts." *Journal of Urban Health* 89, no. 5 (October 2012): 733– 45. doi:10.1007/s11524-012-9677-7.
- ¹⁸⁷ Zepeda, Lydia, and Anna Reznickova. "Measuring Effects of Mobile Markets on Healthy Food Choices." Madison, University of Wisconsin, November 2013. <u>http://www.ams.usda.gov/AMSv1.0/getfile?dDocName=STELPRDC5105567</u>
- ¹⁸⁸ "Mission & History." *People's Grocery*. Accessed May 28, 2014. <u>http://www.peoplesgrocery.org/mission history</u>.
- ¹⁸⁹ "What We Do." *People's Grocery*. Accessed May 27, 2014. <u>http://www.peoplesgrocery.org/what_we_do</u>.
- ¹⁹⁰ Erler, Zoe. "Bringing Life to a Food Desert." *The Philanthropic Enterprise*. Accessed May 27, 2014. <u>http://www.thephilanthropicenterprise.org/by-the-people-for-the-people/</u>.
- ¹⁹¹ "My Street Grocery." Accessed May 27, 2014. <u>http://mystreetgrocery.com/</u>.
- ¹⁹² Gilles, Nathan. "My Street Grocery: Portland's Mobile Market." *Edible Portland*. Accessed May 27, 2014. <u>http://edibleportland.com/2013/12/my-street-grocery-portlands-mobile-market/</u>.
- ¹⁹³ Zielinski, Alex. "Mobile Grocery Truck Making Its Way Down to Old Town." *Portland Mercury*, September 21, 2012. <u>http://www.portlandmercury.com/BlogtownPDX/archives/2012/09/21/mobile-grocery-truck-making-its-way-down-to-old-town</u>.
- ¹⁹⁴ "My Street Grocery Teams with Central City Concern." *Portland Business Journal*. Accessed May 27, 2014. http://www.bizjournals.com/portland/morning_call/2012/09/my-street-grocery-teams-with-central.html.
- ¹⁹⁵ Ruzicka, Austen. "My Street Grocery Brings the Grocer to the People." *Portland State Vanguard*, May 22, 2012. <u>http://psuvanguard.com/news/my-street-grocery-brings-the-grocer-to-the-people/</u>.

- ¹⁹⁶ "Peaches & Greens." DETROIT COMMUNITY MARKETS. Accessed May 27, 2014. <u>http://www.detroitmarkets.org/Market/Peaches_.and._Greens</u>.
- ¹⁹⁷ "Peaches & Greens Homepage." Peaches & Greens. Accessed May 27, 2014. <u>http://peachesandgreens.org/</u>.
- ¹⁹⁸ More, Tell Me. "Detroit Truck Responds To City's Food Desert Crisis." NPR.org. Accessed May 27, 2014. <u>http://www.npr.org/templates/story/story.php?storyId=131000846</u>.
- ¹⁹⁹ Zepeda, Lydia, and Anna Reznickova. "Measuring Effects of Mobile Markets on Healty Food Choices." Madison, University of Wisconsin, November 2013. <u>http://www.ams.usda.gov/AMSv1.0/getfile?dDocName=STELPRDC5105567</u>
- ²⁰⁰ "Mobile Markets." County Health Rankings & Roadmaps. Accessed May 27, 2014. <u>http://www.countyhealthrankings.org/policies/mobile-markets</u>.
- ²⁰¹ Duggan, Tara. "People's Grocery Finally Opening a Grocery Store in West Oakland," October 19, 2012. <u>http://insidescoopsf.sfgate.com/blog/2012/10/19/peoples-grocery-finally-opening-a-grocery-store-in-west-oakland/</u>.
- ²⁰² People's Grocery. "2009 Farmers Market Promotion Program. People's Grocery Fresh Food Market Project (12-25-G-0917) - Final Performance Report, 2012," 2009. <u>http://www.ams.usda.gov/AMSv1.0/getfile?dDocName=STELPRDC5097842</u>.
- ²⁰³ Zepeda, Lydia, and Anna Reznickova. "Measuring Effects of Mobile Markets on Healthy Food Choices." Madison, University of Wisconsin, November 2013. <u>http://www.ams.usda.gov/AMSv1.0/getfile?dDocName=STELPRDC5105567</u>
- ²⁰⁴ Zepeda, Lydia, and Anna Reznickova. "Measuring Effects of Mobile Markets on Healthy Food Choices." Madison, University of Wisconsin, November 2013. <u>http://www.ams.usda.gov/AMSv1.0/getfile?dDocName=STELPRDC5105567</u>
- ²⁰⁵ Zepeda, Lydia, and Anna Reznickova. "Measuring Effects of Mobile Markets on Healthy Food Choices." Madison, University of Wisconsin, November 2013. <u>http://www.ams.usda.gov/AMSv1.0/getfile?dDocName=STELPRDC5105567</u>
- ²⁰⁶ "Urban Agriculture." *County Health Rankings & Roadmaps*. Accessed May 27, 2014. <u>http://www.countyhealthrankings.org/policies/urban-agriculture</u>.
- ²⁰⁷ "Community Gardens." *County Health Rankings & Roadmaps*. Accessed May 27, 2014. <u>http://www.countyhealthrankings.org/policies/community-gardens</u>.
- ²⁰⁸ "Seattle Market Gardens." *Seattle Department of Neighborhoods*. Accessed May 27, 2014. http://www.seattle.gov/neighborhoods/ppatch/marketgardens/.
- ²⁰⁹ Seattle Women's Commission, Seattle City Councilmember Mike O'Brien, and The Office of Sustainability and Environment. "Seattle Women and Food Access: Learning from Women in Delridge," March 2014. <u>http://cosobrien.wpengine.netdna-cdn.com/wp-content/uploads/2014/03/Final-Report-With-Appendix1.pdf</u>.
- ²¹⁰ Department of Neighborhoods. City of Seattle. "A STROLL IN THE GARDEN: An Evaluation of the P-Patch Program August 2009," 2009. http://www.seattle.gov/neighborhoods/ppatch/documents/PPatchEvaluation2009.pdf.
- ²¹¹ PolicyLink. "Equitable Development Toolkit Urban Agriculture and Community Gardens," April 2008. <u>http://www.policylink.org/sites/default/files/urban-agriculture.pdf</u>.
- ²¹² "Seattle Market Gardens." *Seattle Department of Neighborhoods*. Accessed May 27, 2014. <u>http://www.seattle.gov/neighborhoods/ppatch/marketgardens/</u>.

- ²¹³ "Seattle Market Gardens." *Seattle Department of Neighborhoods*. Accessed May 27, 2014. <u>http://www.seattle.gov/neighborhoods/ppatch/marketgardens/</u>.
- ²¹⁴ Department of Neighborhoods. City of Seattle. "A STROLL IN THE GARDEN: An Evaluation of the P-Patch Program August 2009," 2009. http://www.seattle.gov/neighborhoods/ppatch/documents/PPatchEvaluation2009.pdf.
- ²¹⁵ "Seattle Market Gardens Gardeners." Seattle Department of Neighborhoods. Accessed May 27, 2014. <u>http://www.seattle.gov/neighborhoods/ppatch/marketgardens/gardeners.htm</u>.
- ²¹⁶ Department of Neighborhoods. City of Seattle. "A STROLL IN THE GARDEN: An Evaluation of the P-Patch Program August 2009," 2009. http://www.seattle.gov/neighborhoods/ppatch/documents/PPatchEvaluation2009.pdf.
- ²¹⁷ "City Slicker Farms Mission and History." City Slicker Farms. Accessed May 27, 2014. <u>http://www.cityslickerfarms.org/mission-and-history</u>.
- ²¹⁸ "City Slicker Farms Mission and History." City Slicker Farms. Accessed May 27, 2014. <u>http://www.cityslickerfarms.org/mission-and-history</u>.
- ²¹⁹ "City Slicker Farms Mission and History." City Slicker Farms. Accessed May 27, 2014. <u>http://www.cityslickerfarms.org/mission-and-history</u>.
- ²²⁰ PolicyLink. "Equitable Development Toolkit Urban Agriculture and Community Gardens," April 2008. <u>http://www.policylink.org/sites/default/files/urban-agriculture.pdf</u>.
- ²²¹ "Urban Agriculture." *County Health Rankings & Roadmaps*. Accessed May 27, 2014. <u>http://www.countyhealthrankings.org/policies/urban-agriculture</u>.
- ²²² "Urban Agriculture." *County Health Rankings & Roadmaps*. Accessed May 27, 2014. http://www.countyhealthrankings.org/policies/urban-agriculture.
- ²²³ "Urban Agriculture." County Health Rankings & Roadmaps. Accessed May 27, 2014. <u>http://www.countyhealthrankings.org/policies/urban-agriculture</u>.
- ²²⁴ "Seattle Market Gardens." *Seattle Department of Neighborhoods*. Accessed May 27, 2014. http://www.seattle.gov/neighborhoods/ppatch/marketgardens/.
- ²²⁵ PolicyLink. "Equitable Development Toolkit Urban Agriculture and Community Gardens," April 2008. <u>http://www.policylink.org/sites/default/files/urban-agriculture.pdf</u>.
- ²²⁶ University of Washington Center for Public Health Nutrition. "2013 Fresh Bucks Evaluation Full Report," January 2014. <u>http://www.wafarmersmarkets.com/foodaccess/2013-FreshBucksEvaluation-FullReport.pdf</u>.
- ²²⁷ PolicyLink. "Equitable Development Toolkit Urban Agriculture and Community Gardens," April 2008. <u>http://www.policylink.org/sites/default/files/urban-agriculture.pdf.</u>
- ²²⁸ "Urban Agriculture." *County Health Rankings & Roadmaps*. Accessed May 27, 2014. http://www.countyhealthrankings.org/policies/urban-agriculture.
- ²²⁹ Department of Neighborhoods. City of Seattle. "A STROLL IN THE GARDEN: An Evaluation of the P-Patch Program August 2009," 2009. <u>http://www.seattle.gov/neighborhoods/ppatch/documents/PPatchEvaluation2009.pdf</u>.
- ²³⁰ "Urban Farming Education Program." City Slicker Farms. Accessed May 27, 2014. http://www.cityslickerfarms.org/urban-farming-education-program.

- ²³¹ Hagey, Allison, Solana Rice, and Rebecca Flournoy. "Growing Urban Agriculture: Equitable Strategies and Policies for Improving Access to Healthy Food and Revitalizing Communities." PolicyLink, 2012. <u>http://www.policylink.org/sites/default/files/URBAN_AG_FULLREPORT.PDF.</u>
- ²³² Saldivar-Tanaka, Laura, and Marianne E. Krasny. "Culturing Community Development, Neighborhood Open Space, and Civic Agriculture: The Case of Latino Community Gardens in New York City." *Agriculture and Human Values* 21, no. 4 (2004): 399–412.
- ²³³ "Gardening A Holistic Approach to Civic Health." *Huntington Community Gardens*. Accessed May 27, 2014. http://www.huntingtoncommunitygardens.com/36.html.
- ²³⁴ "What Is a Farmers's Market?" USDA Food and Nutrition Service. Accessed May 27, 2014. http://www.fns.usda.gov/ebt/what-farmers-market.
- ²³⁵ http://www.policylink.org/site/c.lkIXLbMNJrE/b.7633431/k.872C/Farmers Market.htm
- ²³⁶ "Farmers Markets and Local Food Marketing." USDA Agricultural Marketing Service. Accessed May 27, 2014. <u>http://www.ams.usda.gov/AMSv1.0/ams.fetchTemplateData.do?template=TemplateS&navID=WholesaleandFarmersMarkets&page=WFMFarmersMarketGrowth&description=Farmers%20Market%20Growth&acct=frmrdirmkt.</u>
- ²³⁷ Seattle Women's Commission, Seattle City Councilmember Mike O'Brien, and The Office of Sustainability and Environment. "Seattle Women and Food Access: Learning from Women in Delridge," March 2014. <u>http://cosobrien.wpengine.netdna-cdn.com/wp-content/uploads/2014/03/Final-Report-With-Appendix1.pdf</u>.
- ²³⁸ "City Heights Farmers' Market." *Facebook*. Accessed May 28, 2014. <u>https://www.facebook.com/CityHeightsFarmersMarket</u>.
- ²³⁹ "City Heights Farmers' Market." International Rescue Committee. Accessed May 27, 2014. <u>http://www.rescue.org/us-program/us-san-diego-ca/city-heights-farmers-market</u>.
- ²⁴⁰ Bliesner, James, and Mirle Rabinowitz Bussell. "The Informal Economy in City Heights," 2013. <u>http://www.cityheightscdc.org/wp-content/uploads/The-Informal-Economy-in-City-Heights_Final-Version_August-26-2013.pdf</u>.
- ²⁴¹ "A San Diego Farmers Market Reaching Out to SNAP Families By Gus Schumacher." Wholesome Wave. Accessed May 28, 2014. <u>http://wholesomewave.org/a-san-diego-farmers-market-reaching-out-to-snap-families-by-gus-schumacher/</u>.
- ²⁴² "Equitable Development Toolkit Farmers Markets." PolicyLink, April 2008. <u>http://www.policylink.org/sites/default/files/farmers-market.pdf</u>.
- ²⁴³ "A San Diego Farmers Market Reaching Out to SNAP Families By Gus Schumacher." Wholesome Wave. Accessed May 28, 2014. <u>http://wholesomewave.org/a-san-diego-farmers-market-reaching-out-to-snap-families-by-gus-schumacher/</u>.
- ²⁴⁴ "Equitable Development Toolkit Farmers Markets." PolicyLink, April 2008. <u>http://www.policylink.org/sites/default/files/farmers-market.pdf</u>.
- ²⁴⁵ "Equitable Development Toolkit Farmers Markets." PolicyLink, April 2008. http://www.policylink.org/sites/default/files/farmers-market.pdf.
- ²⁴⁶ "East New York Farms Homepage." *East New York Farms*. Accessed May 27, 2014. <u>http://www.eastnewyorkfarms.org/</u>.
- ²⁴⁷ Project for Public Spaces (PPS). "Farmers Markets as a Strategy to Improve Access to Healthy Food for Low-Income Families and Communities." Columbia University, Institute for Social and Economic Research and Policy (ISERP). Accessed May 27, 2014. <u>http://www.pps.org/wp-content/uploads/2013/02/RWJF-Report.pdf</u>.

- ²⁴⁸ Project for Public Spaces (PPS). "Farmers Markets as a Strategy to Improve Access to Healthy Food for Low-Income Families and Communities." Columbia University, Institute for Social and Economic Research and Policy (ISERP). Accessed May 27, 2014. http://www.pps.org/wp-content/uploads/2013/02/RWJF-Report.pdf.
- ²⁴⁹ "East New York Farms Homepage." *East New York Farms*. Accessed May 27, 2014. http://www.eastnewyorkfarms.org/.
- ²⁵⁰ "East New York Farms Homepage." *East New York Farms*. Accessed May 27, 2014. <u>http://www.eastnewyorkfarms.org/</u>.
- ²⁵¹ "East New York Farms Homepage." *East New York Farms*. Accessed May 27, 2014. <u>http://www.eastnewyorkfarms.org/</u>.
- ²⁵² "Farmers' Markets/stands in Low Income Neighborhoods." *County Health Rankings & Roadmaps*. Accessed May 28, 2014. <u>http://www.countyhealthrankings.org/policies/farmers-marketsstands-low-income-neighborhoods</u>.
- ²⁵³ Project for Public Spaces (PPS). "Farmers Markets as a Strategy to Improve Access to Healthy Food for Low-Income Families and Communities." Columbia University, Institute for Social and Economic Research and Policy (ISERP). Accessed May 27, 2014. <u>http://www.pps.org/wp-content/uploads/2013/02/RWJF-Report.pdf</u>.
- ²⁵⁴ O'Hara, Jeffrey K. "Market Forces: Creating Jobs through Public Investment in Local and Regional Food Systems," Union of Concerned Scientists. August 2011. <u>http://www.ucsusa.org/assets/documents/food_and_agriculture/market-forces-report.pdf</u>.
- ²⁵⁵ Bibbo, Chris, Susan Burbank, Erin Hall, Joretha Johnson, Bobbi Kahler, Kristopher Nunn, and Keiko Tsuchiya. "A Study of Successful Farmer's Markets in Urban, Low-Income Communities." EGS Consulting Team. Accessed May 27, 2014. <u>http://www.neofoodweb.org/sites/default/files/resources/Successful%20FM%20in%20Ltd.%20Income%20Neighborhoods%20Final.pdf</u>.
- ²⁵⁶ "Farmers' Markets/stands in Low Income Neighborhoods." *County Health Rankings & Roadmaps*. Accessed May 28, 2014. <u>http://www.countyhealthrankings.org/policies/farmers-marketsstands-low-income-neighborhoods</u>.
- ²⁵⁷ "Fresh Bucks." Office of Sustainability & Environment. Accessed May 27, 2014. <u>http://www.seattle.gov/environment/food/fresh-bucks</u>.
- ²⁵⁸ Project for Public Spaces (PPS). "Farmers Markets as a Strategy to Improve Access to Healthy Food for Low-Income Families and Communities." Columbia University, Institute for Social and Economic Research and Policy (ISERP). Accessed May 27, 2014. <u>http://www.pps.org/wp-content/uploads/2013/02/RWJF-Report.pdf</u>.
- ²⁵⁹ Swenson, Paulina. "PAIRED PRICE COMPARISONS OF FARMERS' MARKET AND SUPERMARKET PRODUCE IN SAN LUIS OBISPO COUNTY." Agribusiness, March 1, 2012. <u>http://digitalcommons.calpoly.edu/agbsp/88</u>.
- ²⁶⁰ "Fresh Bucks." Office of Sustainability & Environment. Accessed May 27, 2014. <u>http://www.seattle.gov/environment/food/fresh-bucks</u>.
- ²⁶¹ Claro, Jake. "Vermont Farmers' Markets and Grocery Stores: A Price Comparison." Farming Association of Vermont, January 2011. <u>http://nofavt.org/sites/default/files/NOFA%20Price%20Study.pdf</u>.
- ²⁶² Project for Public Spaces (PPS). "Farmers Markets as a Strategy to Improve Access to Healthy Food for Low-Income Families and Communities." Columbia University, Institute for Social and Economic Research and Policy (ISERP). Accessed May 27, 2014. <u>http://www.pps.org/wp-content/uploads/2013/02/RWJF-Report.pdf</u>.

- ²⁶³ McGuirt, Jared T., Stephanie B. Jilcott, Haiyong Liu, and Alice S. Ammerman. "Produce Price Savings for Consumers at Farmers' Markets Compared to Supermarkets in North Carolina." *Journal of Hunger & Compared Levironmental Nutrition* 6, no. 1 (2011): 86–98. doi:10.1080/19320248.2010.551031.
- ²⁶⁴ Project for Public Spaces (PPS). "Farmers Markets as a Strategy to Improve Access to Healthy Food for Low-Income Families and Communities." Columbia University, Institute for Social and Economic Research and Policy (ISERP). Accessed May 27, 2014. <u>http://www.pps.org/wp-content/uploads/2013/02/RWJF-Report.pdf</u>.
- ²⁶⁵ Project for Public Spaces (PPS). "Farmers Markets as a Strategy to Improve Access to Healthy Food for Low-Income Families and Communities." Columbia University, Institute for Social and Economic Research and Policy (ISERP). Accessed May 27, 2014. <u>http://www.pps.org/wp-content/uploads/2013/02/RWJF-Report.pdf</u>.
- ²⁶⁶ "Fresh Bucks." Office of Sustainability & Environment. Accessed May 27, 2014. <u>http://www.seattle.gov/environment/food/fresh-bucks</u>.
- ²⁶⁷ Seattle Women's Commission, Seattle City Councilmember Mike O'Brien, and The Office of Sustainability and Environment. "Seattle Women and Food Access: Learning from Women in Delridge," March 2014. <u>http://cosobrien.wpengine.netdna-cdn.com/wp-content/uploads/2014/03/Final-Report-With-Appendix1.pdf</u>.
- ²⁶⁸ O'Hara, Jeffrey K. "Market Forces: Creating Jobs through Public Investment in Local and Regional Food Systems," Union of Concerned Scientists. August 2011. <u>http://www.ucsusa.org/assets/documents/food_and_agriculture/market-forces-report.pdf</u>.
- ²⁶⁹ "Farmers' Market." *East New York Farms*. Accessed May 27, 2014. http://www.eastnewyorkfarms.org/index.php?option=com_content&view=article&id=7&Itemid=15.
- ²⁷⁰ "Free Immunization Clinic 12/15 at City Heights Farmers Market." San Diego County Medical Society Foundation. Accessed May 27, 2014. <u>http://sdcmsf.org/free-immunization-clinic-1215-at-city-heights-farmers-market/</u>.
- ²⁷¹ "City Heights Farmers' Market." *Facebook*. Accessed May 27, 2014. <u>https://www.facebook.com/CityHeightsFarmersMarket</u>.
- ²⁷² Seattle Women's Commission, Seattle City Councilmember Mike O'Brien, and The Office of Sustainability and Environment. "Seattle Women and Food Access: Learning from Women in Delridge," March 2014. <u>http://cosobrien.wpengine.netdna-cdn.com/wp-content/uploads/2014/03/Final-Report-With-Appendix1.pdf</u>.
- ²⁷³ "Food Hub Center." National Good Food Network. Accessed May 27, 2014. <u>http://www.ngfn.org/resources/food-hubs</u>.
- ²⁷⁴ Matson, James, Martha Sullins, and Chris Cook. "The Role of Food Hubs in Local Food Marketing." USDA Rural Development, January 2013. <u>http://www.rurdev.usda.gov/supportdocuments/sr73.pdf</u>.
- ²⁷⁵ Salle, Janine de la. "Local Food Hubs: A New Strategy in the Field of Food System Planning." *Plan Canada* 51, no. 3 (2011): 33–37.
- ²⁷⁶ Salle, Janine de la. "Local Food Hubs: A New Strategy in the Field of Food System Planning." *Plan Canada* 51, no. 3 (2011): 33–37.
- ²⁷⁷ "Food Hubs." *Healthy Food Access Portal*. Accessed May 27, 2014. <u>http://healthyfoodaccess.org/retail-strategy/food-hub?destination=node/321</u>.
- ²⁷⁸ Seattle Women's Commission, Seattle City Councilmember Mike O'Brien, and The Office of Sustainability and Environment. "Seattle Women and Food Access: Learning from Women in Delridge," March 2014. http://cosobrien.wpengine.netdna-cdn.com/wp-content/uploads/2014/03/Final-Report-With-Appendix1.pdf.
- ²⁷⁹ Salle, Janine de la. "Local Food Hubs: A New Strategy in the Field of Food System Planning." *Plan Canada* 51, no. 3 (2011): 33–37.

²⁸⁰ "The Shop | Mission." The Shop. Accessed May 27, 2014. http://www.thestop.org/mission.

- ²⁸¹ Cantrell, Patty, Kathryn Colasanti, Laura Goddeeris, Sarah Lucas, Matt McCauley, Michigan State University Urban Planning Practicum 2012. Food Innovation Districts: An Economic Gardening Tool. Northwest
- ²⁸¹Michigan Council of Governments. March 2013. <u>http://www.nwm.org/userfiles/filemanager/1753/</u>.
- ²⁸² "Detroit Eastern Market." Accessed May 27, 2014. <u>http://www.detroiteasternmarket.com/</u>.
- ²⁸³ Salle, Janine de la. "Local Food Hubs: A New Strategy in the Field of Food System Planning." *Plan Canada* 51, no. 3 (2011): 33–37.
- ²⁸⁴ "Food Hubs." *Healthy Food Access Portal*. Accessed May 27, 2014. <u>http://healthyfoodaccess.org/retail-strategy/food-hub?destination=node/321</u>.
- ²⁸⁵ Fischer, M., Hamm, M., Pirog, R., Fisk, J., Farbman, J., & Kiraly, S. (September 2013). Findings of the 2013 National Food Hub Survey. Michigan State University Center for Regional Food Systems & The Wallace Center at Winrock International. <u>http://kresge.org/sites/default/files/2013-national-food-hub-survey.pdf</u>.
- ²⁸⁶ Michigan State University. "Key Findings from the 2013 National Food Hub Survey." Accessed May 27, 2014. <u>http://ngfn.org/resources/ngfn-database/knowledge/Key%20Findings.pdf</u>.
- ²⁸⁷ Matson, James, Martha Sullins, and Chris Cook. "The Role of Food Hubs in Local Food Marketing." USDA Rural Development, January 2013. <u>http://www.rurdev.usda.gov/supportdocuments/sr73.pdf</u>.
- ²⁸⁸ Schmit, Todd M., Becca B.R. Jablonski, and David Kay. "Assessing the Economic Impacts of Regional Food Hubs: The Case of Regional Access." *Cornell University*, 2013. <u>http://low.nesare.org/content/download/71181/1012734/file/Cornell_Food_Hub_Report_12_13_2013_FINAL-1.pdf</u>.
- ²⁸⁹ The Shop. "Strong Together the Shop 2013 Annual Report." Accessed May 27, 2014. <u>http://www.thestop.org/sites/thestop.org/files/annual-reports/thestopcfc-2013annualreport.pdf.</u>
- ²⁹⁰ Fischer, M., Hamm, M., Pirog, R., Fisk, J., Farbman, J., & Kiraly, S. (September 2013). Findings of the 2013 National Food Hub Survey. Michigan State University Center for Regional Food Systems & The Wallace Center at Winrock International. <u>http://kresge.org/sites/default/files/2013-national-food-hub-survey.pdf</u>.
- ²⁹¹ The Shop. "Strong Together the Shop 2013 Annual Report." Accessed May 27, 2014. <u>http://www.thestop.org/sites/thestop.org/files/annual-reports/thestopcfc-2013annualreport.pdf</u>.
- ²⁹² Salle, Janine de la. "Local Food Hubs: A New Strategy in the Field of Food System Planning." *Plan Canada* 51, no. 3 (2011): 33–37.
- ²⁹³ Schmit, Todd M., Becca B.R. Jablonski, and David Kay. "Assessing the Economic Impacts of Regional Food Hubs: The Case of Regional Access." *Cornell University*, 2013. <u>http://low.nesare.org/content/download/71181/1012734/file/Cornell_Food_Hub_Report_12_13_2013_FINAL-1.pdf.</u>
- ²⁹⁴ Salle, Janine de la. "Local Food Hubs: A New Strategy in the Field of Food System Planning." *Plan Canada* 51, no. 3 (2011): 33–37.
- ²⁹⁵ Michigan State University. "Key Findings from the 2013 National Food Hub Survey." Accessed May 27, 2014. <u>http://ngfn.org/resources/ngfn-database/knowledge/Key%20Findings.pdf</u>.
- ²⁹⁶ Salle, Janine de la. "Local Food Hubs: A New Strategy in the Field of Food System Planning." *Plan Canada* 51, no. 3 (2011): 33–37.

- ²⁹⁷ Seattle Women's Commission, Seattle City Councilmember Mike O'Brien, and The Office of Sustainability and Environment. "Seattle Women and Food Access: Learning from Women in Delridge," March 2014. <u>http://cosobrien.wpengine.netdna-cdn.com/wp-content/uploads/2014/03/Final-Report-With-Appendix1.pdf</u>.
- ²⁹⁸ "Our Case Study." East New York Farms. Accessed May 27, 2014. <u>http://www.eastnewyorkfarms.org/</u>.
- ²⁹⁹ "Mission & History." *People's Grocery*. Accessed May 28, 2014. <u>http://www.peoplesgrocery.org/mission history</u>.
- ³⁰⁰ PolicyLink. "Equitable Development Toolkit Urban Agriculture and Community Gardens," April 2008. <u>http://www.policylink.org/sites/default/files/urban-agriculture.pdf</u>.
- ³⁰¹ Barclay, Eliza. "Cheaper Fruits And Vegetables Alone Can't Save Food Deserts." NPR. Accessed May 27, 2014. <u>http://www.npr.org/blogs/thesalt/2012/11/15/165204681/cheaper-fruit-and-vegetables-alone-cant-save-food-deserts</u>.
- ³⁰² Zepeda, Lydia, and Anna Reznickova. "Measuring Effects of Mobile Markets on Healthy Food Choices." Madison, University of Wisconsin, November 2013. <u>http://www.ams.usda.gov/AMSv1.0/getfile?dDocName=STELPRDC5105567</u>.
- ³⁰³ Neighmond, Patti. "It Takes More Than A Produce Aisle To Refresh A Food Desert." NPR. Accessed May 28, 2014. <u>http://www.npr.org/blogs/thesalt/2014/02/10/273046077/takes-more-than-a-produce-aisle-to-refresh-a-food-desert.</u>
- ³⁰⁴ Bruder, Jessica. "A Start-Up Tries to Eliminate 'Food Deserts." You're the Boss Blog, November 1, 2011. <u>http://boss.blogs.nytimes.com/2011/11/01/a-start-up-tries-to-eliminate-food-deserts/</u>.
- ³⁰⁵ "5. Urban Linear Parks." Larry Houstoun's Urban Public Spaces & Business Improvement Districts. Accessed May 27, 2014. <u>http://lhoustoun.wordpress.com/public-spaces/chapter-5urban-linear-parks-from-urban-land-magazine/</u>.
- ³⁰⁶ Seattle Women's Commission, Seattle City Councilmember Mike O'Brien, and The Office of Sustainability and Environment. "Seattle Women and Food Access: Learning from Women in Delridge," March 2014. <u>http://cosobrien.wpengine.netdna-cdn.com/wp-content/uploads/2014/03/Final-Report-With-Appendix1.pdf</u>.
- ³⁰⁷ "About Safe Routes to School." *Seattle Department of Transportation*. Accessed May 27, 2014. <u>http://www.seattle.gov/transportation/saferoutes_about.htm</u>.
- ³⁰⁸ "About Safe Routes to School." *Seattle Department of Transportation*. Accessed May 27, 2014. <u>http://www.seattle.gov/transportation/saferoutes_about.htm</u>.
- ³⁰⁹ Cantrell, Patty, Kathryn Colasanti, Laura Goddeeris, Sarah Lucas, Matt McCauley, Michigan State University Urban Planning Practicum 2012. Food Innovation Districts: An Economic Gardening Tool. Northwest
- ³⁰⁹ Michigan Council of Governments. March 2013. <u>http://www.nwm.org/userfiles/filemanager/1753/</u>.
- ³¹⁰ "Equity Tools." *PolicyLink*. Accessed May 27, 2014. <u>http://www.policylink.org/equity-tools/equitable-development-toolkit/health-equity-and-place</u>.
- ³¹¹ Seattle Women's Commission, Seattle City Councilmember Mike O'Brien, and The Office of Sustainability and Environment. "Seattle Women and Food Access: Learning from Women in Delridge," March 2014. <u>http://cosobrien.wpengine.netdna-cdn.com/wp-content/uploads/2014/03/Final-Report-With-Appendix1.pdf</u>.